Aus dem Fachbereich Medizin Der Johann Wolfgang Goethe-Universität Frankfurt am Main

Institut für KARDIOVASKULÄRE PHYSIOLOGIE Direktor: Prof. Dr. Rudi Busse

## Molecular mechanism of intracellular signal transduction by the angiotensin-converting enzyme

## Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der theoretischen Medizin des Fachbereichs Medizin der Johann Wolfgang Goethe-Universität Frankfurt am Main

vorgelegt von

## Cynthia Gershome

aus Chennai, Indien

Frankfurt am Main 2007

| Dekan:                      | Prof. Dr. J. Pfeilschifter    |
|-----------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Referent:                   | Prof. Dr. Ingrid Fleming      |
| Korreferent:                | Prof. Dr. Dr. Gerd Geislinger |
| Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: | 20.12.2007                    |

## Table of contents

| 3      |
|--------|
|        |
| 4      |
| 6      |
| 7<br>7 |
| 9      |
| 10     |
|        |
| 11     |
|        |
|        |
|        |
|        |
|        |
|        |
|        |
|        |

# 2.Materials and Methods ......17

| 2.1. Materials  | . 17 |
|---|------|
| 2.2. Cell Culture                                     | . 18 |
| 2.3. Stable transfection of endothelial cells         | . 19 |
| 2.4. Adenoviral infection of human endothelial cells  | . 19 |
| 2.5. Protein isolation and Western blot analysis      | . 19 |
| 2.6. Immunoprecipitation                              | 20   |
| 2.8. JNK activity Assay                               | . 21 |
| 2.9. RNA isolation                                    | . 21 |
| 2.10. Gene array (Affymetrix) for expression analysis | 22   |
| 2.12. Nuclear isolation of proteins                   | 23   |
| 2.13. Electrophoretic Mobility Shift Assay (EMSA)     | 23   |
| 2.14. Statistical analysis                            | 24   |

| 3. Results  |
|---|
|   |
| 3.1. ACE dimerization in endothelial cells  |
| 3.3 ACE inhibitors induce dimerization of ACE in endothelial cells  |
| 3.4. Effect of Carbohydrates on ACE dimerization  |
| 3.5. Effect of monoclonal antibodies on ACE dimerization and shedding   |
| 3.6. Ramiprilat-induced dimerization initiates ACE signalling in CHO cells  |
| 3.6. Divergent gene expression induced by ramiprilat in primary endothelial cells 35  |
| 3.7. Expression patterns of selected genes in human endothelial cells   |
| 3.8. Ramiprilat enhances cellular retinol binding protein-1 (CRBP-1) levels in human plasma)  |
| 3.9. CRBP-1 overexpression increases the activity of retinoid X receptor (RXR) and PPAR response element (PPRE) promoter in endothelial cells |
| 3.10. ACE signalling in human monocytes   |
| 3.11. Effect of ramiprilat on nuclear peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARγ) levels in human monocytes                      |
| 3.12. Effect of ramiprilat on nuclear PPARγ levels in human endothelial cells   |
| 3.13. ACE inhibitor regulates adiponectin, a downstream target of PPARy47   |
| 3.14. NF-κB activation by ramiprilat in human monocytes   |
| 4. Discussion   |
| 4.1. ACE dimerization initiates ACE signalling in endothelial cells   |
| 4.2. Downstream effectors of the ACE signalling pathways in endothelial cells   |
| 4.3. ACE signalling in monocytes  |
| 4.4 ACE inhibitors regulate adiponectin, a downstream target of PPARγ60   |
| 5. Summary62  |
| 6. Zusammenfassung65  |
| 7. List of abbreviations66  |
| 8. Reference List   |

## **1. Introduction**

Angiotensin I converting enzyme (ACE) is a zinc peptidyl dipeptidase that catalyses the conversion of angiotensin I to angiotensin II, which is a potent vasoconstrictor and is also involved in the inactivation of bradykinin, a potent vasodilator (1). ACE plays an important role in blood pressure regulation by virtue of generating angiotensin II, which increases blood pressure by inducing aldosterone secretion, leading to sodium and fluid retention and the release of norepinephrine from the sympathetic nervous system (2). Apart from regulating blood pressure, angiotensin II, an important effector of the renin-angiotensin system (RAS), is a potent proinflammatory agent leading to expression of growth factors, cytokines, chemokines and adhesion molecules, in pathological conditions wherein RAS is activated (3-6). Increased local ACE activity leading to increased *de novo* production of angiotensin II coupled with degradation of bradykinin, impairs the balance between vasoconstriction and vasodilation, thrombogenesis and fibrinolysis, proinflammation and anti-inflammation thus promoting pathological effects in hypertension (7). ACE inhibitors are widely employed for the treatment of hypertension and various cardiovascular diseases (8). The observed beneficial cardiac, vascular and renal effects cannot be explained by the blood pressure lowering action of ACE inhibitors alone, and also the magnitude of risk reduction was far greater than that expected from the modest reduction in blood pressure. Therefore the study of ACE and mechanisms of ACE inhibitors is needed to fully explain the beneficial effects of ACE inhibitors. To explain the mode of action of ACE inhibitors, our group recently identified ACE as a signal transduction molecule because upon binding of ACE inhibitors, an outside-in signalling is initiated leading to a signalling cascade resulting in the phosphorylation of Ser<sup>1270</sup> in the cytoplasmic tail of ACE, activation of JNK as well as the phosphorylation of c-Jun and its translocation to the nucleus affecting the increased expression of ACE and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) in endothelial cells. This ACE inhibitor induced signalling cascade could potentially influence the expression of a spectrum of genes in endothelial cells and this could be an additional mechanism by which ACE inhibitors exert their protective effects on the cardiovascular system. This thesis describes the mechanism by which the ACE inhibitor initiates the signalling cascade and attempts to identify the downstream effectors of the ACE signalling cascade.

## 1.1. The Renin Angiotensin System

The RAS plays an important role in regulating blood volume, arterial pressure, cardiac and vascular function. Sympathetic stimulation (acting via  $\beta_1$ -adrenoceptors), renal artery hypotension, and decreased sodium delivery to the distal tubules stimulate the release of renin by the kidney. Renin is an enzyme that acts upon a circulating substrate, liver-derived angiotensinogen that undergoes proteolytic cleavage and forms the decapeptide angiotensin I. Angiotensin I, per se has only weak physiological activity and mainly acts as a precursor to angiotensin II. In addition to being a substrate for angiotensin II, angiotensin I can be converted to heptapeptide angiotensin 1-7 by neutral endopeptidase and also by the recently discovered angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2). ACE2 can also remove a single amino acid from the carboxyl terminus of angiotensin I to produce angiotensin 1-9 (Fig. 1).

ACE, located in the vascular endothelium, particularly in the lungs, cleaves two amino acids from the C-terminus to form the octapeptide, angiotensin II. Alternatively, angiotensin II can be converted to angiotensin 1-7 by ACE2. Angiotensin II can be converted to smaller peptides with biological activity by the action of aminopeptidase A, which removes a single amino acid from the amino terminus to generate angiotensin III or angiotensin 2-8. Additional action of aminopeptidases can generate angiotensin IV or angiotensin 3-8. Angiotensin III has 40% of the pressor activity of angiotensin II, but 100% of the aldosterone-producing activity. Angiotensin 1-7 has been reported to have vasodilatory effects (9).

#### Kinin Kallikrein System

#### **Renin Angiotensin System**



Fig 1. The components of the renin angiotensin system and the kinin kallikrein system.

Angiotensin II mediates its effects via binding to specific receptors on the cell surface. At least two types of angiotensin receptors which are G-protein coupled have been identified: angiotensin II type 1 ( $AT_1$ ) and type 2 ( $AT_2$ ) receptors. Most of the effects of angiotensin II are mediated via  $AT_1$  receptors to stimulate systemic vasoconstriction, vascular smooth muscle contraction, aldosterone secretion, dipsogenic responses, pressor and tachycardiac responses.

Angiotensin II acting via  $AT_1$  receptors, can also cause cell growth, differentiation and proliferation directly by affecting several kinase pathways and indirectly by inducing several growth factors, including transforming growth factor  $\beta 1$  (TGF- $\beta_1$ ) and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) (10). The  $AT_2$  receptor is highly expressed in fetal mesenchymal tissues from both rodents and man and diminishes rapidly to low levels a few days after birth. However  $AT_2$  receptor protein is detectable in the adult kidney, heart and blood vessels. The expression of the AT<sub>2</sub> receptor is upregulated by sodium depletion and is inhibited by angiotensin II and growth factors such as platelet-derived growth factor, epidermal growth factor and also by insulin and insulin growth factor-I (11-13). Growing evidence shows that AT<sub>2</sub> receptors are also important in controlling the cardiovascular system (10). A physiological role for the AT<sub>2</sub> receptor was first suggested by the observations that mice lacking the AT<sub>2</sub> receptor have a slight but significant increase in baseline blood pressure (11;14). The AT<sub>2</sub> receptor subsequently mediates vasodilation by stimulating the production of bradykinin, nitric oxide (NO) and cyclic guanosine 3', 5'-monophosphate (cGMP) (15;16). In blood vessels, in addition to its vasodilatory actions, the AT<sub>2</sub> receptor exerts antiproliferative and apoptotic effects in vascular smooth muscle cells and decreases neointimal formation in response to injury by counteracting the effects of angiotensin II (17). It seems that most of the effects mediated by  $AT_2$  receptors are the opposite of those mediated by  $AT_1$  and it is also suggested that the  $AT_2$  receptor exerts protective actions only when the  $AT_1$  receptor is blocked (18;19). Apart from angiotensin II, angiotensin III also can bind to and signal through the AT<sub>1</sub> and AT<sub>2</sub> receptors.

The components of the RAS have been found in a number of tissues, which partly explains the increased concentration of circulating angiotensin II levels during long term ACE inhibitor therapy. Other peptidases are able to convert angiotensin I to angiotensin II and the serine protease chymase are thought to be responsible for more than 80% of the angiotensin II formation in the human heart and more than 60% of that in the arteries (20;21). However the

role of RAS in other tissues warrants further investigation. The physiological role of RAS is to maintain or increase extracellular fluid volume and to increase the total peripheral resistance. An effective RAS attenuates orthostatic hypotension and hypotension during low salt intake or during dehydration. Overactivity of RAS has been implicated in the development of various cardiovascular diseases, such as hypertension, congestive heart failure, coronary ischemia, atherosclerosis and renal insufficiency (22).

## **1.2. ACE inhibitors**

ACE inhibitors are a preferred class of drugs used clinically to treat high blood pressure. ACE inhibitors are most effective in lowering blood pressure in experimental models of hypertension such as in genetically hypertensive rats (spontaneously hypertensive rats) and mice (23-25). Findings from large clinical trials have established that blocking the reninangiotensin system with ACE inhibitors not only lower blood pressure but also positively influence a number of cardiovascular risk factors such as cardiac and vascular hypertrophy, endothelial dysfunction, atherosclerosis or insulin resistance.

ACE inhibitors are tight-binding competitive inhibitors of ACE. They interact with the constituents of the enzyme's active site, i.e. the hydrophobic pocket, positively charged groups of amino acids, the zinc ion and auxiliary binding sites. Captopril, the first clinically available ACE inhibitor, belongs to the group of sulfhydryl (SH)- containing ACE inhibitors (26). Based on the structure of captopril, other inhibitors were synthesized such as enalaprilat, lisinoprilat (27), ramiprilat (28;29) and perindoprilat (30). More than 15 inhibitors of the enzyme are now clinically available worldwide. ACE inhibitors can be divided into three chemical classes according to their zinc ligand (31;32). They mainly differ in their elimination half-life, potency, lipophilicity and the route of elimination.

ACE inhibitors significantly improved endothelial function by increasing the formation of NO and prostaglandin PGI<sub>2</sub> (33-36), vascular remodelling (37) inhibited the progression of arteriosclerosis (38) and delayed the onset of type-2 diabetes (39;40). ACE inhibitors results in significant reductions in mortality in heart failure and post-myocardial infarct patients (41). The effects of ACE inhibition in patients with high risk for coronary artery disease without left ventricular dysfunction or heart failure, patients at least 55 years old with a history of stroke, peripheral vascular disease and diabetic patients were examined in the heart outcomes prevention evaluation (HOPE) study. Treatment with ramipril significantly reduced the combined outcome of death, myocardial infarction and stroke by 22% and revascularizations

by 16%. In diabetic patients, ramipril lowered the risk of new onset of diabetes by 32%, diabetic complications by 16%. ACE inhibitors have been shown to decrease the clinical events in high risk patients with atherosclerosis with and without ventricular dysfunction, prior to and after myocardial infarction (42-44). The positive effects of ACE inhibitors observed in HOPE and other studies of ACE inhibition, cannot be explained by the blood pressure lowering action of ACE inhibitors alone, since the magnitude of risk reduction was greater than that expected from the modest reductions in blood pressure that occurred (45). Therefore the study of mechanism of action of ACE inhibitors apart from lowering blood pressure or independent of angiotensin II or bradykinin, is needed to explain the positive beneficial effects demonstrated by various large clinical trials.

## 1.3. The Angiotensin Converting Enzyme

Cells and tissues not implicated in the classical RAS are now known to possess the components of RAS and exert diverse actions in many organs. ACE is found in most mammalian tissues bound to the external surface of the plasma membrane of vascular endothelial cells. ACE is also present in epithelial, neural and neuroepithelial cell types (46). ACE is located in the parenchyma of the heart, kidneys, brain, and adrenal glands. Apart from the vasculature, ACE is also found in circulating leukocytes and monocytes. T lymphocytes have higher enzyme protein levels than monocytes (47). Various components of the reninangiotensin system have been localized to human adipose tissue (48;49). Taken together, emerging picture of ACE expression in many other tissues suggests that the enzyme might play other roles apart from conversion of angiotensin I to angiotensin II, which needs further investigation. The structural aspects of the enzyme, isoforms and homologues of ACE, polymorphisms of ACE, ACE in other tissues apart from vasculature, wherein it might play a new role and its role as a signal transduction molecule, all of which will be discussed in the sections to follow.

#### 1.3.1. Structure

ACE exists as a cell surface integral membrane glycoprotein (class I membrane protein) anchored to the plasma membrane with the N-terminus and active site facing the extra-cellular milieu, in particular at the luminal surface of vascular endothelial cells (Fig. 2) (50). ACE consists of a 28 residue carboxyl-terminal cytosolic domain and a 22 residue hydrophobic transmembrane domain and an extracellular domain consisting of 1227 residues.

The extracellular domain is further divided into two homologous domains, a 612 residue Ndomain at the amino terminus linked by a 15 residue sequence to a 600 residue C domain. Each of the extracellular domains possess an active site with a HEXXH sequence in which the two histidine residues serve as zinc-binding ligands (51).



**Fig. 2:** Schematic representation showing the structure of angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE). Catalytic sites on each lobe binds a zinc  $(Zn^{2+})$  atom. Modified from Johnston et al (52).

ACE is a metallopeptidase with a zinc atom in its active center, its activity can therefore be inhibited by metal chelating agents. Despite their high degree of homogeneity, the N and C domains display distinct structural and functional differences. The C domain is primarily responsible for angiotensin I hydrolysis, while both N and C domains are responsible for the inactivation of bradykinin (53-55). The N domain preferentially hydrolyses the haemoregulatory peptide N-acetyl-Ser-Asp-Lys-Pro (AcSDKP) and angiotensin 1-7 (56). The C domain displays greater chloride dependence (55;57) and is more sensitive to proteolysis (58), while the N domain shows greater thermal stability (59). In addition, ACE inactivates the vasodilatory peptide brakykinin by the sequential removal of two C-terminal dipeptides (60). However bradykinin is the preferred substrate of both catalytic sites, as ACE hydrolyzes bradykinin 80 times faster than angiotensin I (61;62). Therefore, the net physiological effect of ACE is to increase the production of vasoconstrictor and decrease the availability of vasodilator.

| Peptide             | Sequence  |
|---------------------|---|
| Bradykinin          | Arg-Pro-Pro-Gly-Phe-Ser-Pro-Phe-Arg   |
|                     | t   |
| Angiotensin I       | Asp-Arg-Val-Tyr-Ile-His-Pro-Phe-His-Leu   |
|                     | †   |
| Chemotactic Peptide | FMet-Leu-Phe  |
|                     | t   |
| Enkephalins         |   |
| Pentapeptide        | Tyr-Gly-Gly-Phe-Met   |
| Heptapeptide        | Tyr-Gly-Gly-Phe-Met-Arg-Phe   |
| Octapeptide         | Tyr-Gly-Gly-Phe-Met-Arg-Gly-Leu   |
|                     | 1   |
| Neurotensin         | <glu-leu-tyr-glu-asn-lys-pro-arg-arg-pro-tyr-ile-leu< td=""></glu-leu-tyr-glu-asn-lys-pro-arg-arg-pro-tyr-ile-leu<> |
|                     | t   |
| Substance P         | Arg-Pro-Lys-Pro-Gin-Gin-Phe-Phe-Gly-Leu-Met-NH2   |
|                     |   |
| LH-RH               | <glu-his-trp-ser-tyr-gly-leu-arg-pro-gly-nh<sub>2</glu-his-trp-ser-tyr-gly-leu-arg-pro-gly-nh<sub>                  |
|                     | 1 1   |

**Table 1:** Arrows indicate the primary sites of cleavage by human ACE. Adapted from Skidgel et al (63)

The testicular ACE is O-glycosylated, whereas the somatic ACE is principally Nglycosylated. The role of glycosylation is not well understood; probably it may enhance the solubility of the enzyme. It has also been suggested that the extent of juxtamembrane glycosylation within somatic ACE regulates dimerization of the protein via the involvement of a carbohydrate-recognizing domain and subsequent formation of intermolecular disulphide bridges (64). On the other hand glycosylation per se does not seem to participate in the catalytic properties of ACE, although it can protect, in particular the N-terminal domain, against proteinases such as trypsin (65-67).

#### 1.3.2. ACE isoforms

There are two ACE isoforms: a somatic form of about 150-180 kDa, and a smaller isoform (90-110 kDa) found exclusively in the testes (68). The human somatic form of ACE, a 170-kDa glycoprotein, has been shown by molecular cloning of its complementary deoxyribonucleic acid (cDNA) to consist of two homologous domains, each containing an active site (57;69). The somatic isoform of the enzyme consists of two highly homologous and functionally active domains, the so-called amino/N terminal and the carboxy/C terminal domain, resulting from gene duplication (57;70), while the testicular isoform has only one of these two domains (71-73).

### 1.3.3. ACE genetics

The human ACE gene is composed of 26 exons, but the mature endothelial transcript is 4.3 kb long and composed of only 25 exons as exon 13 is spliced off in this transcript. The testicular ACE transcript is 3 kb long and transcribed from exons 13 to 26. Therefore a single gene encodes both the somatic and testicular ACE transcripts by activation of alternate promoters (69;72;74). There are two ACE promoters, a somatic promoter which is located on the 5' side of the first exon of the gene and a germinal, promoter located on the 5' side of the specific testicular ACE mRNA (74). The two alternate promoters of the ACE gene exhibit highly contrasting cell specificities, as the somatic promoter is active in endothelial, epithelial and neuronal cell types, whereas the germinal promoter is only active in a stage specific manner in male germinal cells (75). Expression of both the somatic and testicular ACE is under different hormonal regulation i.e. the endothelial enzyme is induced by glucocorticoids, whereas the testicular form is stimulated by androgens (76;77).

## 1.3.4. ACE polymorphisms

It is generally thought that plasma ACE concentration mirrors the level of the synthesis of the somatic enzyme. The cloning of human ACE gene also enabled the detection of many polymorphisms. One of them consists of the presence (insertion allele I) or absence (deletion allele D) of a 287-base pair DNA fragment in the intron 16 of the ACE gene, corresponding to an Alu sequence. A strong association of these alleles and the level of serum ACE was detected (78;79). Individuals homozygous for the D allele (genotype DD) displayed twice as high serum ACE levels compared to individuals homozygous for the I allele (genotype II) (79-82). Also, carriers of the D allele have been found to have significantly higher risk of diabetic nephropathy (83).

## **1.4. ACE secretion**

Despite the fact that ACE is expressed as a type I integral membrane protein, a soluble form of ACE is found in plasma, seminal fluids and other body fluids (84). This soluble form is derived from the membrane-bound form through the action of ACE secretase (85;86). Proteolytic cleavage of membrane-bound ACE occurs at different positions within the juxtamembrane stalk region (87;88). Of physiological relevance, a point mutation within the juxtamembrane region (Pro-1199 to Leu) has been shown to cause a dramatic increase in serum levels of ACE (89). The same mutation has been shown to enhance ACE shedding *in* 

*vitro* (90). Intermolecular disulfide bridge formation and the extent of glycosylation within the ACE juxtamembrane region has been shown to modulate the degree of shedding of the enzyme (91) thereby also altering the cleavage site by secretases (92). Somatic ACE is shed much less efficiently than testicular ACE as the N-terminal domain of somatic ACE also plays an important regulatory role by occluding a recognition motif on C-domain required for ectodomain shedding (93).

Increased serum ACE levels has been reported in Sarcoidosis (94), diabetes, Gaucher's disease (95), leprosy and to a lesser extent in hyperthyroidism (96). Increased plasma ACE activity has been suggested to be a risk factor for patients with coronary artery disease and myocardial infarction (97;98). Elevated plasma ACE activity determined soon after the onset of MI has been suggested to be a significant predictor of development of left ventricular dilation (99). On the other hand, decreased soluble ACE has been reported in vascular pathologies involving an endothelial abnormality, for instance deep vein thrombosis (100), pulmonary injury (96;101) and in endothelial dysfunction related to the toxicity of chemo-and radiotherapy used in cancer, leukemia and hematopoietic or organ transplantation (96;102). Therefore soluble ACE can be of interest as a prognostic marker for monitoring arterial hypertension and diabetic patients treated with specific ACE inhibitors.

## **1.5.** ACE in other tissues

#### 1.5.1 Human monocytes

Both monocytes and macrophages are instrumental in maintaining the homeostasis of the immune system and also are involved in pathological events. Freshly isolated monocytes contain little or no detectable ACE activity (103). However, when cultured for 4 days and also when monocytes differentiate into macrophages (104), ACE levels increases substantially. Differentiation of monocytes into macrophages in culture is also accompanied by an increase in the expression of components of renin-angiotensin system (105;106). Dexamethasone also was able to induce ACE expression in monocytes in culture (107). The biological relevance of ACE induction in monocytes is not yet clear, however due to its carboxypeptidase activity, ACE enhances the presentation of certain endogenously synthesized peptides to MHC class I-restricted cytotoxic T-lymphocytes, by generation of optimally sized class I-binding peptides from larger protein fragments (108-110). The level of ACE expression in the mononuclear cells that synthesize ACE is genetically determined and dependent on ACE polymorphisms *in vivo* (47). Activation of monocytes occurs in pathological conditions and it was demonstrated that dialysis patients with manifest cardiovascular disease had significant ACE levels in

circulating monocytes thus suggesting a general activation of the renin-angiotensin system contributing to atherosclerosis (111). It was reported that there is an increased accumulation of ACE in atherosclerotic coronary artery disease (112). In the regions of plaques where macrophages and foam cells accumulate, there is also an elevated concentration of ACE which produces increased amounts of angiotensin II, which in turn is atherogenic and has proinflammatory properties, thereby promoting the risk of plaque rupture.

#### **1.5.2. Heart and vasculature**

The components of RAS have been found in the cardiomyocytes, vascular smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells. By means of immunohistochemistry, ACE expression has been localized to the cardiac blood vessels and the endocardium (113). ACE levels are increased in vascular and cardiac hypertrophy. Administration of ACE inhibitors led to efficient treatment of cardiac disease. Local ACE expression plays an important role in cardiac remodeling as reported that the in-vivo gene transfer of ACE into the uninjured rat carotid artery results in the development of vascular hypertrophy independent of its effect on blood pressure per se (114).

#### 1.5.3. Adipose tissue

Local RAS components have also been detected in white and brown adipose tissue. ACE mRNA was found in both human subcutaneous and extraperitoneal adipose tissue, especially in adipocytes (115). ACE synthesis at protein levels was detected in human preadipocytes (116). The expression of RAS components seems to be related to body weight because obese women are reported to have higher circulating angiotensinogen, renin, aldosterone and ACE than lean women. Body weight reduction (approximately 5%) reduced angiotensinogen, renin and aldosterone levels and decreased ACE expression (117).

#### 1.5.4. Pancreas

Renin mRNA was detected in the connective tissue surrounding the blood vessels and in reticular fibres within the islets of human pancreas. Renin protein was localized in the beta cells of the human islets of Langerhans and in endothelial cell of the pancreatic vasculature.  $AT_2$  receptor was detected in the beta cells of the human islets of Langerhans and also in endothelial cells of the pancreatic vasculature (118). The pancreatic RAS appears to regulate the secretion of pancreatic hormones. This finding and the overall functional relevance of the tissue RAS in the pancrease awaits further study and might account for the beneficial effects of ACE inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor blocker therapy on the onset of type 2 diabetes.

## **1.6. Homologues of ACE**

Apart from the angiotensin receptors (type I and II), a new member of RAS has been unraveled by genomic-based strategies which led to the discovery of ACE2, a human ACE homologue (119). ACE2 expression has been found in the heart, kidneys, testes, gastrointestinal tract, brain and lung (120-123). Unlike ACE, ACE2 hydrolyzes angiotensin I to angiotensin (1-9), angiotensin II to angiotensin (1-7) and bradykinin to [des-Arg9]bradykinin (an inactive metabolite). The full length ACE2 cDNA encodes an 805 amino acid protein with a molecular weight of  $\sim 120$  kDa. ACE2 is a zinc metallopeptidase sharing 42% sequence homology with ACE (119;121;124). The ACE2 protein sequence reveals a potential signal peptide at the N-terminus and a hydrophobic region near the C-terminus which likely serves as a cell membrane anchor. Like ACE, ACE2 is also an ectoenzyme capable of hydrolyzing circulating peptides and is susceptible to cleavage and secretion from the cell surface (121). However unlike ACE, ACE2 has only one isoform. The N-terminal domain of ACE2 has an active site while its C-terminal domain shows 48% sequence identity with collectrin. Collectrin is a renal specific type-1 transmembrane glycoprotein that lacks the metalloprotease catalytic domains of ACE and ACE2 (123) suggesting that collectrin has other physiological roles that are shared with ACE2. Gene targeting studies indicates that ACE2 is an important regulator of cardiac function. ACE2 knockout mice exhibit severe reduction in cardiac contractility, increased angiotensin II levels in plasma and heart and upregulation of hypoxia genes (120). Cardiac dysfunction observed in these mutant mice is completely reversed by a second mutation that causes ACE deficiency. In sharp contrast to ACE, ACE2 does not convert angiotensin I to angiotensin II, and its enzymatic activity is not inhibited by ACE inhibitors. ACE2 probably counterbalances the enzymatic actions of ACE and thus might be a new target for hypertension.

### **1.6.** ACE as a signal transduction molecule

To explain the mode of action of ACE inhibitors it was suggested that apart from inhibiting the formation of angiotensin II, ACE inhibitors increase the accumulation of bradykinin and also potentiates the responses to bradykinin, by inhibiting bradykinin  $B_2$  receptor desensitization (125;126). ACE inhibitors have been demonstrated to attenuate or partly reverse the bradykinin-induced translocation of the  $B_2$  receptor to caveolin-rich membranes and reactivate signalling events such as increase in intracellular calcium ions, activation of extracellular-regulated kinases 1/2 in  $B_2$  receptor-desensitized cells (125) and thus was

14 127) Many

proposed that cross-talk might occur between ACE and the B<sub>2</sub> kinin receptor (125-127). Many of the effects of ACE inhibitors in both animals and humans, such as the increase in endothelial NO synthase expression and improved vasodilator responsiveness can be inhibited by blocking the B<sub>2</sub> kinin receptor (128). The question as to how this interaction between the two membrane proteins, ACE and B<sub>2</sub> receptor occur, largely remains unanswered. Moreover angiotensin II levels are not decreased during long-term ACE inhibition and also other enzymes such as chymase can also generate angiotensin II and therefore the beneficial effects of ACE inhibitors cannot solely be attributed to a decrease in the generation of angiotensin II or accumulation of bradykinin, thus hinting towards the existence of an alternative pathway whereby ACE inhibitors might exert their positive actions on vascular system apart from the inhibition of angiotensin II production.

For ACE per se to be a signal transduction molecule upon binding of an ACE inhibitor, it was hypothesized that ACE should be able to bind to soluble intracellular signal molecules or adaptor proteins. The ACE protein sequence revealed that somatic ACE has a short cytoplasmic tail which harbours five serine residues, one of which (Ser<sup>1270</sup> of the human sequence) is located in a highly conserved 13-amino acid sequence at the C-terminal end of the protein. ACE is phosphorylated by protein casein kinase 2 (CK2) at the serine residue 1270 in the cytosolic tail of ACE. In endothelial cells, CK2 which phosphorylates the enzyme has also been demonstrated to physically interact with ACE and the phosphorylation of ACE by CK2 has been shown to stabilize its localization in the plasma membrane as either the mutation of this residue or the inhibition of CK2 both enhance the cleavage/secretion of the enzyme (129). Interestingly, bradykinin, albeit to a lesser extent than an ACE inhibitor, increased ACE Ser<sup>1270</sup> phosphorylation and CK2 activity in endothelial cells lacking AT<sub>1</sub> receptors and bradykinin B<sub>2</sub> receptors suggesting a signal transduction pathway for ACE that does not require B<sub>2</sub> receptors. Angiotensin I did not increase the phosphorylation of the enzyme on Ser<sup>1270</sup> and CK2 activity. Apart from CK2, mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 7 and the c-Jun NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal kinase (JNK) were also found to be associated with the cytoplasmic tail of ACE in endothelial cells. Following the CK2-dependent phosphorylation of Ser<sup>1270</sup>, activity of ACE associated JNK is also increased in cells treated with ACE inhibitors and bradykinin. Activation of JNK results in the translocation of phosphorylated c-Jun to the nucleus, and enhanced binding of the activator protein-1 transcription factor to DNA, followed by the increased expression of ACE (130) and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) (131). This signalling pathway has been demonstrated in primary cultures of human endothelial cells and also in mice. The identification of ACE as a signalling molecule that can be activated upon binding of ACE inhibitors may account for some of the beneficial

effects of these drugs on the cardiovascular system. The ACE/CK2/JNK pathway may not be the only ACE signalling pathway activated by ramiprilat since in endothelial cells ACE also has been found to interact physically with other intracellular molecules including CaM kinase II, annexin 2, the phosphatase PPI,  $\beta$ -actin and the non-muscle myosin heavy chain IIA (MYH9) and needs further investigation.

## 1.8. Aim

Clinical trials have established an increasingly important role for ACE inhibition in the treatment and prevention of cardiovascular disease, improvement in endothelial function and delaying the onset of type 2 diabetes. These relevant findings cannot be attributed only to the inhibition of angiotensin II formation or decreased bradykinin degradation as it is well known that chronic ACE inhibition nevertheless does not decrease angiotensin II levels. The mechanisms of ACE inhibitors underlying these effects are so far unclear and needs investigation and go beyond just the metabolism of the kinins.

The aim of this study was to investigate the intracellular events implicated in ACE signalling in endothelial cells and monocytes/macrophages and the physiological relevance of ACEmediated signalling in these cells. Furthermore we set out to identify the downstream effectors of ACE signalling which might be responsible for the beneficial effects by ACE inhibitors in various clinical conditions. As ACE inhibitors have been reported to delay the onset of type 2 diabetes, investigation also assessed whether ACE inhibitors activate peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR $\gamma$ ), which influences multiple genes involved in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism, via the ACE signalling cascade.

## 2. Materials and Methods

## 2.1. Materials

All media, enzymes and buffer as well as antibiotics, which were used for the cell and organ culture, were from the company GIBCO Life Technology (Karlsruhe), fetal calf serum (FCS) from Life Technologies Inc., human serum AB from PAA laboratories, GmbH and the cell culture dishes by Falcon (Becton Dickinson).

The monoclonal anti-body (MAB 4051) against the extracellular, N-terminal segment of the angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE), related for the immunoprecipitation and the immunohistochemical experiments, was from Chemicon international (Temecula, APPROX). The monoclonal antibody (C78) used for Western blotting also recognized the N-terminal domain and was provided by Dr. Peter Bünning (Sanofi-Aventis, Frankfurt, Germany). The ACE monoclonal antibodies (clone 9B9, 3A5, and 5F1) recognizing different epitopes of the N-terminal domain of the enzyme were from Chemicon International (Temecula, CA). The phosphospecific p-Ser1270 antibody was generated from the peptide sequence HGPQFGpSEVELR (position 1263 to 1275 in human somatic ACE protein) by Eurogentec (Seraing, Belgium). The monoclonal (MAB575) as well as the polyclonal (PAB568) antibody against the cytoplasmic, C-terminal segment of ACE were generated in mice and rabbits immunized with a synthetic peptide corresponding to to amino acids 1250 to 1277 in the ACE C-terminus. The serum from these immunized animals was further purified by affinity chromatography. The antibodies against CD31 and JNK-1 were from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. (Santa Cruz, CA). The beads for immunoprecipitation, protein A sepharose was from Amersham (Freiburg) and protein G Sepharose was from Zymed (Berlin).

The radioactive nucleotide ( $[^{32}P \gamma$ - adenosine triphosphate was from Hartmann analytics (Braunschweig). Bradykinin as well as angiotensin I and II were from Bachem Biochemica (Heidelberg).

The ACE inhibitor ramiprilat was provided by Aventis (Frankfurt/Main). The oligonucleotide for the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was synthesized by, Biospring GmbH (Frankfurt/Main. The transfection reagent Superfect was from Qiagen (Hilden). Oligonucleotide chips were from Affymetrix. The plasmids related to split-ubiquitin assay were generous gifts from Dr. Nils Johnsson (Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster, Münster, Germany). All other substances were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO).

## **2.2.** Cell Culture

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) were isolated from fresh umbilical cords, using dispase as described (132) and cultured in endothelium cell medium MCDB 131 (Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany) with FCS (8%), L-glutamine (10 mmol/L), fibroblast growth factor (1 ng/mL), epidermal growth factor (0,1 ng/mL), endothelial growthstimulating factor from cattle brain (0.4%), penicillin (50 U/mL) and streptomycin (50 µg/mL) on cell culture dishes coated with fibronectin. HUVEC's were used from passages between 0-2 as ACE expression goes down with passaging of the cells(133). Porcine endothelial cells (PAEC) were isolated from fresh porcine aorta using dispase and cultured in growth medium containing a 1:1 mixture. MCDB 131 (Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany) and M199 (PAA laboratory, Pasching, Austria) containing 14% FCS, EGF (0.05 ng/mL), bFGF (0.5 ng/mL), endothelial cell growth supplement (1.5 mg/mL), heparin (22.5 mg/mL), penicillin (50 U/mL) and streptomycin (50  $\mu$ g/mL). Although the porcine endothelial cells no longer endogenously expressed ACE or functional  $AT_1$  and  $B_2$  receptors, they expressed a number of characteristic endothelial cell proteins (von Willebrand factor, CD31, the endothelial nitric-oxide synthase, and VE-cadherin). These cells were transfected stably either with human wild type ACE or with non-phosphorlatable ACE mutant, and thus developed into a cell line, in order to examine the effects of the ACE mutation on the intracellular signal transduction pathways and the posttranslational modification of ACE in endothelial cells.

## 2.2.1. Monocyte isolation

Peripheral blood was obtained from healthy donors (Blood bank, Frankfurt am Main) and mononuclear cells were isolated by Ficoll gradient centrifugation. CD14 positive monocytes were separated from the enriched pelleted cells by Easysep method (Stem cell technologies) according to manufacturer's instructions. 95% of the monocytes thus obtained were CD14 positive by FACS analysis. Resulting monocytes were cultured in Primaria cell culture dishes (Becton Dickinson), in RPMI medium supplemented with L-glutamine, penicillin-streptomycin, 5% human AB serum from PAA, 1X non essential amino acids, 1X MEM vitamins (GIBCO, BRL), 1 mM sodium pyruvate (PAA) and 10 mM HEPES (GIBCO, BRL).

## 2.3. Stable transfection of endothelial cells

High-passaged ACE deficient porcine aortic endothelial cells (PAEC) were stably transfected with wild-type ACE, S1253A, S1263A, or S1270A using calcium phosphate precipitation or electroporation. Cells stably overexpressing wild type ACE and mutant ACE, were cultured in presence of selection antibiotic Geneticin G418 ( $500\mu g/mL$ ), so that only the positive clones, which carry the geneticin resistance cloned in transfection plasmid were selected. Individual clones were selected and ACE expression and enzyme activity was assessed by means of western blot and spectrophotometric enzyme assay (129).

## 2.4. Adenoviral infection of human endothelial cells

For the infection of endothelial cells, the cells were serum-starved (medium containing 0.1% BSA) for 4-6 hours. Cells were infected with recombinant adenoviruses expressing human wild-type ACE or nonphosphorylatable S1270A ACE for 4 hours in the same medium. Virus containing medium was removed and the cell monolayer was washed three times with PBS in order to remove any traces of virus and/or virus particles and full medium was added and cultured for 24 hrs and then used for experiments.

## 2.5. Protein isolation and Western blot analysis

Cultivated or native endothelial cells, monocytes were lysed in Nonidet lysis buffer (20 mmol/L TRIS/HCl, pH 8.0, 137 mmol/L NaCl, 25 mmol/L  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate, 10% (v/v) glycerol, 2 mmol/L sodium pyrophosphate, 10 nmol/L okadaic acid, 2 mmol/L sodium-orthovanadate, 2 µg/mL leupeptin, 2 µg/mL pepstatin A, 2 µg/mL antipain, 2 µg/mL aprotinin, 10 µg/mL trypsin inhibitor, 44 µg/mL PMSF and 1% (v/v) nonidet P40 and placed on ice for 10 minutes and subjected to centrifugation (10000 g, 4°C, 10 minutes). The protein concentration of the supernatant was quantified by Bradford's method (134) or by Amido black staining (135;136). Protein extracts (20-50 µg) were denatured by heating in Laemmli buffer (2% sodiumdodecylsulfate (SDS), 5% β-mercaptoethanol, 8.5 % glycerin, 0,002% bromine-phenol-blue and 63 mmol/L TRIS/HCl, pH 6.8) at 95°C for 5 minutes and separated by SDS-PAGE. The proteins were then subjected to electrophoresis (running buffer: 190 mmol/L glycine, 0.1% SDS and 25 mmol/L Tris-HCl) and resolved for about 2 hours with approximately 35 mA/gel. Western blotting was performed using the tank blot technique onto

nitrocellulose membranes (Biorad, Munich, Germany) for 90 minutes, in transfer buffer (190 mmol/L glycine, 25 mmol/L Tris-HCl and 20% methanol) with 250 mA per apparatus for 90 minutes. The nitrocellulose membranes were stained with Ponceau S (0.2% w/v) to determine the quality of transfer and equal loading of the protein. After destaining with distilled water, the membranes were blocked in Tris buffered saline with tween (TBST, 200 mmol/L NaCl, 50 mmol/L Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 0.3% Tween-20) containing 3% BSA for 1 hour at room temperature. The membranes were incubated with the primary antibody (routinely diluted 1:1000) in TBST containing 3% BSA overnight at 4°C. The membranes were then washed in TBST for 30 minutes at an interval of 10 minutes for 30-45 minutes. The membranes were blocked again for 1 hour. The secondary antibody coupled to horse-radish-peroxidase (HRP, 1:10000 in TBST) was incubated with the membranes for 1-2 hours at room temperature and washed again. The proteins were visualized on X-ray films (Fuji RX-film), by enhanced chemiluminescence solution (ECL, Amersham Pharmacia, Freiberg, Germany). For semi quantitative determination of protein expression, the films were densitometrically evaluated. In order to probe the membranes with alternative antibodies, the nitrocellulose membranes were incubated in Stripping buffer (67.5 mmol/L TRIS/HCl, pH 6.8, 100 mmol/L βmercaptoethanol, 2% (w/v) SDS) at 50°C for 30 minutes. After decanting the stripping buffer, membranes were thoroughly washed several times with TBST and then incubated with specific antibody and processed as described above.

## 2.6. Immunoprecipitation

Immunoprecipitation (IP) is employed to isolate protein of interest using a specific antibody which is subsequently pulled down using protein A/G Sepharose beads. Cells were lysed in 1% Nonidet lysis buffer, and incubated on ice for 10 minutes. The lysate was centrifuged at 10000 g (4°C for 10 min) and the supernatant was transferred into a fresh tube. All subsequent steps were performed at 4°C. Cell extract (30-40  $\mu$ g) was kept aside to check for total expression of the protein of interest and the rest volume was used for immunoprecipitation. The cell lysate (300  $\mu$ g) was subjected to preclearing with 30  $\mu$ l protein A/G Sepharose beads (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Heidelberg, Germany) and incubated for 30-60 minutes at 4°C on a rotating wheel. The preclearing step, allows the clearing of the lysate of non-specific protein binding to the sepharose. The supernatant of the preclearing was used for immunoprecipitation with the specific antibodies. For this, 5  $\mu$ g of the antibody of interest was added to the lysate. The mixture was incubated on the rotating wheel at 4°C, for 2

hours. Then 50  $\mu$ l of protein A/G Sepharose beads were added and incubated with the sample for 1 hour on the rotating wheel at 4°C. The complex of antigen, antibody and sepharose was then pulled down by centrifugation at 10000 g (4°C for, 10 minutes) and washed three times with Nonidet lysis buffer. Finally, 30  $\mu$ l of Laemmli buffer was added and the protein denatured at 95°C for 5 minutes. Briefly, the samples were centrifuged for 1 minute in a microcentrifuge at 10000g and the supernatants were separated by SDS-PAGE and Western blotting.

## 2.8. JNK activity Assay

To assess JNK activity, cells were serum starved for 24 hours prior to stimulation, and rinsed twice with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline, and then lysed in Nonidet lysis buffer (20 mmol/L Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, containing 1% Nonidet, 137 mmol/L NaCl, 25 mmol/L βglycerophosphate, 1 mmol/L sodium orthovanadate, 2 mmol/L Na<sub>2</sub>H<sub>2</sub>P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>7</sub>, 2 mmol/L EDTA, pH 8.0, 10% glycerol, and protease inhibitors (100 µg/ml phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride,  $1 \mu g/ml$  aprotinin, and  $1 \mu g/ml$  leupeptin). The cell lysate was cleared by centrifugation at 10000 g at  $4^{\circ}$ C for 10 minutes. The supernatant was precleared by incubating with 30 µl of Protein A/G sepharose beads for 30 minutes and centrifuged again for 10 minutes. The supernatant was incubated with 5 µl of rabbit anti-JNK1 antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA) for 1 h at 4 °C and then with 50 µl of protein A/G-Sepharose for another 1 hour. The immunoprecipitates were washed twice with Nonidet lysis buffer and once with kinase buffer (25 mmol/L HEPES, pH 7.6, 20 mmol/L MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 20 mmol/L βglycerophosphate, 0.1 mmol/L sodium orthovanadate, 2 mmol/L dithiothreitol). The kinase assays were performed at 30 °C for 30 min using 2 µg of GST-c-Jun (Cell Signalling, Beverly, MA) as substrate as described earlier (137), 20  $\mu$ mol/L ATP, and 5  $\mu$ Ci of [ $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>PldATP (Hartmann Analytic, Braunschweig, Germany) in 30 µl of kinase buffer. The reactions were stopped by the addition of  $10\mu L$  of 3X Laemmli sample buffer, and the products were resolved by SDS-PAGE (10%). The incorporation of [<sup>32</sup>P] phosphate was visualized by autoradiography and quantified by scanning densitometry.

## 2.9. RNA isolation

Endothelial cells were grown to 80-90% confluence and infected with either human somatic ACE or S1270A mutant ACE. Cells were washed with PBS to remove traces of serum. Cells were then lysed with TRI reagent (Sigma, Germany) and incubated at room temperature for

5-10 minutes to permit the dissociation of nucleoprotein complexes. Chloroform (0.2 mL per mL of TRI reagent) was added and the homogenate was shaken vigorously. The cell homogenates were further incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes and were centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 10 minutes at 2 to 8°C. Following centrifugation, RNA is then precipitated from the aqueous phase by mixing with isopropanol (0.5 mL per mL of TRI reagent) and incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes followed by centrifugation at 13000 rpm for 10 minutes at 2 to 8<sup>o</sup>C. After the centrifugation, the RNA precipitate is then washed once with 75% ethanol and again with 95% alcohol, and centrifuged each time at 10000 rpm for 5 minutes at 2 to 8°C. The resulting RNA pellet is air dried briefly in a fume hood and reconstituted with RNase-free water. The quantity of the purified RNA samples was determined by measuring the absorbance at 260 nm  $(A_{260})$  using a spectrophotometer and the purity by measuring the  $A_{260}/A_{280}$  ratio. A ratio of  $\geq 1.7$  (260/280) indicates that the RNA is free from protein and deoxy ribonucleic acid. The overall quality of RNA preparation was assessed further by electrophoresis on a denaturing agarose gel and visualized by ethidium bromide staining.

## 2.10. Gene array (Affymetrix) for expression analysis

Gene arrays have become a powerful approach for many applications to name a few, for the determination of the expression profiles of genes and identification of sequence (gene mutation). We used the gene array to compare the profile of expression of the genes in endothelial cells overexpressing somatic ACE or non-phosphorylatable ACE S1270 mutant and treated with or without ACE inhibitor. Affymetrix's gene chips are glass slide arrays manufactured using special photolithographic methods and combinatorial chemistry, which allow the oligonucleotide spots to be synthesized directly onto the array substrate. For the Affymetrix gene array, endothelial cells were stimulated and RNA was extracted. One cycle eukaryotic target labeling assay was used. Total RNA (10 µg) was first reverse transcribed using a T7-Oligo (dT) promoter primer in the first strand cDNA synthesis reaction. Following Rnase H-mediated second strand cDNA synthesis, the double-stranded cDNA was purified and served as a template in the subsequent in vitro transcription reaction. The in vitro transcription was carried out in the presence of T7 RNA Polymerase and a biotinylated nucleotide analog/ribonucleotide mix for complementary RNA (cRNA) amplification and biotin labeling. The biotinylated cRNA targets are then cleaned up, fragmented and hybridized to GeneChip expression arrays. The hybridized cRNA was then stained with a

Streptavidin-phycoerythrin conjugates and visualized with an array scanner. The experiment was performed three times with different batches of cells to limit experimental variations.

## 2.12. Nuclear isolation of proteins

Cells were stimulated for the indicated times and harvested in ice cold PBS with protease inhibitors. All the procedures was handled on ice. Cells collected in PBS with protease inhibitors were centrifuged briefly for 30 sec at 14000 g at 4<sup>0</sup> C. The cell pellets were resuspended in 100 µL of the buffer A (Hypotonic buffer: 10 mmol/L HEPES 7.9, 10 mmol/L KCl, 0.1 mmol/L EDTA, 0.1 mmol/L EGTA), 1mmol/L DTT, 0.5mmol/L PMSF, and mixed gently with pipetting. The cell pellets were incubated on ice for 10 minutes and 7.5  $\mu$ L of 10% nonidet was added to lyse the cell membrane and incubated on ice for further 1 min, vortexed and centrifuged briefly at 14000 g at 4<sup>°</sup> C for 1 minute. The supernatant (post nuclear fraction) was transferred to fresh eppendorf tubes. The resulting pellet was briefly washed with PBS with protease inhibitors by vortexing and centrifugation at 14 000 g at 4<sup>0</sup> C for 1 minute in order to remove the traces of the post nuclear fraction. The pelleted nuclei were resuspended in 30-50 µL of the buffer C (Hypertonic buffer: 20 mmol/L HEPES pH 7.9, 0.4 mol/L NaCl, 1mmol/L EDTA, 1mmol/L EGTA, 10% glycerol), and incubated on ice for 30 minutes, vortexing for 10 seconds every 10 minutes for 30 minutes. The insoluble fraction was removed by centrifugation at 14 000 g for 10 minutes at 4<sup>o</sup> C. The nuclear extracts were stored at -80<sup>°</sup>C until analysed further.

## 2.13. Electrophoretic Mobility Shift Assay (EMSA)

This technique is used to study gene regulation and determining protein-DNA interactions. The EMSA technique is based on the observation that protein-DNA complexes migrate more slowly than free DNA molecules when subjected to non-denaturing polyacrylamide or agarose gel electrophoresis (138). Monocytes were cultured for 4 days and treated thereafter with/without ramiprilat for 24 hours. Nuclear extracts were prepared as described above. Protein concentration was measured by the method of Bradford. The NF- $\kappa$ B binding protein was used according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, NF- $\kappa$ B oligonucleotide was end labeled using  $\gamma^{32}$ P-ATP using Ready-to-go T4 Polynucleotide kinase (Amersham Biosciences, Germany) kit. Unincorporated nucleotide was removed from the DNA probe by using the G-25 spin columns (Amersham Pharmacia biotech, Germany). Briefly the column

containing the resin is vortexed gently. The cap is loosened and the bottom closure is snapped off and placed in a 1.5 mL eppendorf tube for support. The column is centrifuged for 1 minute at 3000 rpm. The column is placed in a fresh eppendorf tube and the labeled sample is applied on to the center of the resin bed and centrifuged again for 2 minutes at 3000 rpm. The purified sample collects at the bottom of the eppendorf tube. 1  $\mu$ L of the sample is counted. Nuclear extracts of 5 to 10  $\mu$ g were incubated with 20000 counts per minute of the labeled oligonucleotide in binding buffer (20% glycerol, 5mmol/L MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 2.5 mmol/L EDTA, 2.5 mmol/L DTT, 250 mmol/L NaCl, 50 mmol/L Tris-HCl -pH 7.5) on ice for 30 minutes. Poly (dI-dC) was used as a non-specific competitor. The samples were then separated on a 6% denaturing gel. The gel was dried and subjected to autoradiography.

## 2.14. Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, and statistical evaluation was performed by using the Student's *t* test for paired or unpaired data, one way ANOVA followed by a Bonferroni *t* test or ANOVA for repeated measures, where appropriate. Values of *P*<0.05 were considered statistically significant.

## 3. Results

## **3.1. ACE dimerization in endothelial cells**

ACE has been defined as a signal transduction molecule which upon binding to ACE inhibitor turns on a signalling cascade culminating in changes in the gene expression in endothelial cells, however the mechanism by which ACE inhibitor initiates this signalling cascade was not clear. It was hypothesized that ACE which is anchored to the membrane with a single transmembrane domain should dimerize preceding the downstream signalling events. Therefore, we sought to determine whether or not ACE dimerizes in endothelial cells and whether ACE dimerization is involved in ACE inhibitor-induced ACE signalling. We used porcine aortic endothelial cells stably overexpressing human somatic ACE which were subjected to native gel electrophoresis. Two forms of ACE were detected by native gel electrophoresis: a dominant form of approximately 270 kDa (monomer) and a minor form of approximately 520 kDa, the putative dimer (Fig. 3). To confirm ACE dimerization in endothelial cells, experiments were also performed under nonreducing conditions. The ACE dimer (~ 520 kDa) was only detected in SDS- and DTT- free conditions suggesting the involvement of disulphide bonds in ACE dimerization. In the presence of SDS and at high temperature of  $95^{\circ}$ C, only the lower monomeric ACE was detected, the reason being, large protein aggregates are destroyed by detergent-SDS and high temperature. Endothelial cells treated with trypsin which cleaves ACE at the C-terminal stalk region (139) resulted in the loss of both the 520- and the 270-kDa forms of ACE.



**Fig. 3: Dimerization of ACE under basal conditions and in the presence of ramiprilat**. Representative Western blots showing somatic ACE monomers (M) and dimers (D) in lysates of ACEoverexpressing porcine aortic endothelial cells treated with either solvent (S) or ramiprilat (R; 100 nM; 7 min) (left side) or ACE overexpressing (+ACE) and ACE-deficient (-ACE) porcine aortic endothelial cells (right side). Experiments were performed under nonreducing conditions (-SDS-DTT). As a control, lysates were treated with trypsin (10 U/ml; 1 h) before adding nonreducing sample buffer or were heated for 10 min in Laemmli SDS sample buffer (+SDS +95°C) before analysis.

ACE inhibitors are reported to increase the expression of ACE in endothelial cells in a timedependent manner (130). However, stimulation of endothelial cells with ramiprilat (100 $\mu$ M; 7 min) significantly increased the relative amount of 520-kDa ACE by 137 $\pm$  11% (n=5; p <0.05) as compared to the controls treated only with the solvent (left panel, Fig. 3) suggesting that ramiprilat increases the dimerization of ACE in endothelial cells.

## **3.2.** Existence of ACE dimerization in living cells system.

ACE dimers were reported to exist in reverse micelles (64), so to determine homodimer formation of ACE in living cells, split-ubiquitin system was used. For the split ubiquitin system, ubiquitin is split into an N-terminal domain ( $N_{ub}$ ) and into a C-terminal domain ( $C_{ub}$ ), and neither is recognized by the ubiquitin-specific proteases (Ubps). This assay is based on the association of the  $N_{ub}$  and  $C_{ub}$  of ubiquitin that are fused to the cytosolic domain of fulllength human ACE generating ACE- $N_{ub}$  and ACE- $C_{ub}$ . The C-terminal of ACE- $C_{ub}$  is fused to an Ura3p reporter protein whose first amino acid has been replaced by arginine (RUra3p) thus generating ACE- $C_{ub}$ -RUra3p (Fig. 4). Dimerization-induced association of  $N_{ub}$  and  $C_{ub}$  in cotransformants creates a native-like ubiquitin which is then recognized by ubiquitin-specific proteases cleaving RUra3p.



Fig. 4: Schematic representation of conditional degradation design. A, The first amino acid of Ura3p enzyme is replaced by arginine (Rura3p) and fused to ubiquitin. The fusion protein is cleaved by the Ubps and the free Ura3p is degraded rapidly by the enzymes of N-end rule that the cells are uracil auxotrophic and resistant to the drug 5-fluro-orotic acid (FOA). **B**, A fusion containing ACE, C<sub>ub</sub> and the Rura3p is not cleaved by the Ubps. The fusion is active and cells are uracil prototropic and sensitive to FOA. C, Co-expression of  $N_{ub}$  and  $C_{ub}$ fused to ACE leads to increased interaction and a native-like ubiquitin is formed which is cleaved. RUra3p is rapidly degraded. The protein-protein interaction between ACE monomers can be detected by the absence of growth on plates lacing uracil and by growth on plates containing FOA.

In this way, the split-Ub system provides a direct readout of the  $N_{ub}$ - $C_{ub}$  association state indicating existence of dimer forms.

To check for the expression of both ACE-N<sub>ub</sub> and ACE-C<sub>ub</sub> proteins, transformed JD53 cells were further analyzed by Western blotting. Cells coexpressing ACE-N<sub>ub</sub> and ACE-C<sub>ub</sub> were unable to grow on ura<sup>-</sup> plates but expanded on 5-FOA plates, indicating that ACE forms stable dimers (and/or higher oligomers) in intact cells (Fig. 6). While cells expressing ACE-C<sub>ub</sub> and an unrelated construct in which the ubiquitin conjugating enzyme Ubc6 was fused to the Nterminal portion of N<sub>ub</sub> grew on ura<sup>-</sup> plates but not on ura<sup>+</sup> and 5-FOA<sup>+</sup> plates, indicating that ACE and Ubc6 do not interact under these indications. To enhance the discriminating power of the assay system, two N<sub>ub</sub> mutants containing alanine (N<sub>ua</sub>) or glycine (N<sub>ug</sub>) in position 13, which have a lower affinity for C<sub>ub</sub> than wild-type N<sub>ub</sub>, were also used. Using these modified probes, a strong interaction between ACE-N<sub>ua</sub> or ACE-N<sub>ug</sub> and ACE-C<sub>ub</sub>, was observed indicating the existence of ACE dimers/oligomers in living cells (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5: Serial dilutions of JD53 cells coexpressing ACE-Nub, ACE-Nug, or ACE-Nua and ACE-Cub were spotted on plates lacking Trp/His (CTL), or uracil and 5-FOA (ura<sup>-</sup> 5-FAO<sup>-</sup>), or on plates containing uracil and 5-FOA (ura<sup>+</sup> 5- $FOA^+$ ). Interaction between ACE monomers is indicated by cell growth on  $ura^+$  5-FOA<sup>+</sup> plates and growth inhibition on ura 5-FAO plates and vice versa. Similar results were obtained in three additional experiments.

## 3.3 ACE inhibitors induce dimerization of ACE in endothelial cells

To investigate the effects of ACE inhibitor ramiprilat on ACE dimerization, endothelial cells were treated with the ACE inhibitor and then exposed to chemical cross-linkers DSS or BS<sub>3</sub> to stabilize the dimers formed. The chemical cross-linker BS<sub>3</sub> (which is membrane impermeable and has a spacer arm of 11.4 Å) reacts with lysine residues. Cross-linking experiments were then followed by Western blotting to assess dimerization of ACE. Ramiprilat induced a rapid (within 2 min) 2-fold increase in the dimerization of ACE, which was maintained for up to 60 min (Fig. 6A).



Fig. 6: Effect of inhibitors on ACE dimerization and phosphorylation in endothelial cells. Porcine aortic endothelial cells stably overexpressing human somatic ACE were treated with ACE inhibitors. **A**, Time course (2-60 min) of the ramiprilat (100 nM) induced dimerization assessed after chemical cross-linking. The cross-linking of ACE on the surface of confluent cells was performed at room temperature for 30 min using 1 to 2 mM DSS or BS<sub>3</sub>. After quenching the reaction with 20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, for 15 min at room temperature, cells were lysed and immunoblotting performed. **B**, Phosphorylation of ACE on Ser<sup>1270</sup>. Results were quantified by calculating the D/M ratio and comparing changes relative to the ratio detected in unstimulated endothelial cells (CTL) or by calculating the p-Ser1270ACE/ACE signal ratio by densitometry and comparing changes relative to the signal obtained in CTL cells. The bar graphs represent the results of four to six independent experiments; \* p<0.05;\*\* p <0.01 versus CTL.

On binding of an ACE inhibitor to ACE, CK2 phosphorylates the Ser<sup>1270</sup> residue in the cytoplasmic tail, a process that initiates a cascade of signalling events (130). Therefore phosphorylation of ACE was also assessed in parallel experiments.

We observed the ramiprilat-induced phosphorylation of ACE was maximal at 2 min after treating the cells with inhibitor but decreased back to the baseline in the next 10 to 15 min (Fig. 6B).

To exclude an artifact arising from ACE-overexpressing endothelial cells we performed experiments in primary cultures of human umbilical vein endothelial cells which endogenously express ACE, and we observed ACE inhibitor-induced dimerization of ACE (Fig. 7A). The mutation of Ser<sup>1270</sup> to alanine prevents the ACE inhibitor-induced phosphorylation of ACE and the subsequent ACE signalling (130). To assess whether ACE dimerization is dependent on phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail of ACE, we performed experiments in endothelial cells overexpressing the nonphosphorylatable ACE. We however observed that even in endothelial cells overexpressing the nonphosphorylatable S1270A ACE mutant, ramiprilat was able to induce the dimerization of ACE (Fig. 7B) suggesting that ACE dimerization is not dependent on the phosphorylation status of the cytoplasmic tail.



**Fig. 7. Effect of ACE inhibitors on dimerisation after cross-linking**. Human umbilical vein endothelial cells were treated with ACE inhibitors and assessed for ACE dimerization after cross-linking with BS<sub>3</sub>. **A**, Effect of ramiprilat (Rami) and enalaprilat (Enala; each 100 nM; 2 and 7 min) on ACE dimer formation. Equivalent loading of protein in each sample was verified by reprobing the blots for CD31. This blot is representative of four to six additional experiments. **B**, Effect of Rami (100 nM; 2 and 7 min) on ACE dimerization in porcine aortic endothelial cells stably overexpressing the nonphosphorylatable ACE mutant S1270A. Porcine aortic endothelial cells stably overexpressing human somatic ACE were used as a positive control (+ve CTL).

A similar dimerization of ACE was observed with other ACE inhibitors (i.e., enalaprilat, quinaprilat, captopril) (Fig. 8) but with varying efficacies. The effect of ramiprilat and other ACE inhibitors on the dimerization of ACE in ACE-overexpressing porcine endothelial cells was concentration-dependent with significant effects being observed using concentrations of 10 nM or greater (Fig. 8), thus suggesting that the ACE inhibitor-induced dimerization of ACE is a specific effect of this class of compounds, rather than a unique property of ramiprilat and also that the increase in dimerization of ACE was dependent on the binding of a compound (ACE inhibitors).



Fig. 8: Concentration-dependent effect of different ACE inhibitors on ACE dimerization. Confluent endothelial cells were treated with different ACE inhibitors and assessed for ACE dimer formation after chemical cross-linking. Representative western blots showing the concentration-dependent effects of ramiprilat, quinaprilat, captopril, and enalaprilat (0.1 nM-10  $\mu$ M; 2 min) on ACE dimerization. Similar results were obtained in three additional experiments.

## 3.4. Effect of carbohydrates on ACE dimerization

ACE is an extensively glycosylated protein. Numerous studies have demonstrated that glycosylation plays an important role in the folding of ACE and also affects the transport and enzyme release (140-142). Human somatic ACE is reported to form carbohydrate-mediated

dimers and ACE contains a specific carbohydrate-recognizing domain (143). To assess the role of carbohydrates in enzyme dimerization, we used the monosaccharides galactose or glucose. ACE-overexpressing porcine aortic endothelial cells were incubated with 10  $\mu$ M galactose, 10  $\mu$ M glucose, or 10  $\mu$ M mannitol (as an osmotic control) for 30 min, prior to the addition of 100 nM ramiprilat for 2 min as we had observed robust rapid dimerization with ACE inhibitors after 2 minutes. The basal or ramiprilat-induced dimerization of ACE in endothelial cells was not influenced by galactose, glucose, or mannitol (Fig. 9). Furthermore the pretreatment of cells with the monosaccharides did not influence either the basal or the ramiprilat-induced phosphorylation of ACE on Ser<sup>1270</sup>.



Fig. 9: Effect of carbohydrates on the dimerization of ACE in ACE-overexpressing endothelial cells. Endothelial cells overexpressing human somatic ACE were pre-incubated with galactose (Gal), glucose (Glc), or mannitol (Man) (each 10  $\mu$ M; 30 min). Representative western blot depicts the effect of pretreatment with monosaccharides on ramiprilat (R; 100 nM; 2 min)-induced dimerization of ACE. The results were quantified by calculating the cross-linked D/M ratio and comparing changes relative to the ratio detected in unstimulated endothelial cells (S, solvent). The bar graphs represents results obtained in four to six different experiments; \*, p < 0.05; \*\*, p < 0.01 versus CTL.

## 3.5. Effect of monoclonal antibodies on ACE dimerization and shedding

The carbohydrate recognition domain that was suggested to be important for ACE dimerization is reported to be recognized and thus shielded by the monoclonal antibody 9B9 (143). To determine the effect of different monoclonal ACE antibodies (9B9, 3A5, 5F1, and C78) directed to different epitopes within the N-domain on ACE dimer formation, ACE-overexpressing porcine aortic endothelial cells were incubated with the above mentioned antibodies and assessed for dimer formation (143).



Fig. 10: Effect of anti-ACE monoclonal antibodies on ACE dimerization. A, Effect of solvent (S), ramiprilat (R; 100 nM; 7 min), monoclonal antibodies to the ACE N domain C78, 9B9, 3A5, and 5F1 (each 10 µg/ml; 7 min) and an unrelated monoclonal antibody (mAb; anti-caveolin-1), on ACE dimerization in ACE-overexpressing porcine aortic endothelial cells. **B**, Effect of pretreatment with solvent and antibodies 9B9, 3A5, and 5F1 (each 10 µg/ml; 4 h) on the ramiprilat (R; 100 nM; 2 min)–induced dimerization of ACE assessed after chemical cross-linking. The bar graphs summarize the results of three to six independent experiments; \* p < 0.05; \*\* p < 0.01 versus the respective buffer alone.

The antibodies tested had no acute effect on ACE dimerization per se (Fig. 10A). The antibodies tested were not able to prevent the ramiprilat-induced dimerization of ACE in ACE-overexpressing porcine aortic endothelial cells (Fig. 10B).

Anti-ACE monoclonal antibodies which are epitope specific, have been reported to enhace the shedding of ACE (144). To determine the shedding of ACE, endothelial cells were incubated with anti-ACE monoclonal antibodies. Among the anti-ACE antibodies used only the 9B9 and 3A5 antibodies (but not 5F1) significantly enhanced the amount of ACE precipitated from the endothelial cell supernatant (Fig. 11), reflecting the enhanced cleavage/secretion of the enzyme.



Fig. 11: Effect of anti-ACE monoclonal antibodies on ACE shedding. Effect of the 9B9, 3A5, 5F1 antibodies (each 10 µg/ml; 4 h) on the amount of soluble ACE (sACE) recovered from the supernatant of endothelial cells. The culture medium was collected and centrifuged (for the precipitation of the detached and cells) subjected to immunoprecipitation. The bar graph represents data from three to six independent experiments; \* p < 0:05.

## 3.6. Ramiprilat-induced dimerization initiates ACE signalling in CHO cells

 $Glu^{362}$  in the N-domain and  $Glu^{960}$  in the C-domain are essential catalytic residues, and the His doublets 361/365 and 959/963 are most likely involved in the binding of  $Zn^{2+}$  (57). To determine whether the active sites are necessary for the dimer formation, CHO cells were stably transfected with either wild-type ACE or different ACE mutants; two with an inactivated N-domain (N<sub>His</sub> and N<sub>Glu</sub>), two with an inactivated C-domain (C<sub>His</sub> and C<sub>Glu</sub>), and one mutant with interfering mutations in both the N and C domains (N+C<sub>Glu</sub>). Mutation of the glutamyl residues within the C and/or N domains (N<sub>Glu</sub>, C<sub>Glu</sub>, and N+C<sub>Glu</sub>) did not have any effect on the ramiprilat-induced dimerization of ACE or on its phosphorylation on Ser<sup>1270</sup> (Fig. 12A and B). Replacement of the two histidyl residues within the C domain of ACE dimers as well as Ser<sup>1270</sup> phosphorylation of the ACE mutant, whereas the N<sub>His</sub> mutant did not show any change in dimerization and increased basal Ser<sup>1270</sup> phosphorylation in CHO cells overexpressing these mutants (Fig. 12 A and B).



Fig. 12: Effect of ramiprilat on dimerization and phosphorylation of  $N_{His}$  and  $C_{His}$  mutants. A, Representative Western blot showing the effect of solvent (S) and ramiprilat (R; 100 nM; 2 min) on ACE dimerization. B, Effect of ramiprilat (R; 100nM) on phosphorylation at Ser<sup>1270</sup> in CHO cells overexpressing human somatic ACE (wtACE) or  $N_{His}$  and  $C_{His}$  mutants. The monomeric (M) and the dimeric (D) forms of ACE are indicated. The bar graphs summarize results obtained in four to six independent experiments; \*\*, p < 0.01 versus basal wild-type ACE dimerization or phosphorylation.

ACE signalling involves the phosphorylation of  $Ser^{1270}$  residue, leading to the activation of JNK (130). The effects of ramiprilat treatment on CHO cells expressing wild-type ACE were similar to those observed in cells expressing N<sub>His</sub>, or any of the Glu mutants (N<sub>Glu</sub>, C<sub>Glu</sub>, and N+C<sub>Glu</sub>; Fig. 13). However ramiprilat was unable to activate JNK in C<sub>His</sub> expressing cells (Fig. 13), indicating that ramiprilat was able to elicit signalling when the two His residues mediating Zn<sup>2+</sup> binding of the active site in the C-domain were present.



Fig. 13: Effect of ramiprilat on signalling by ACE mutants. Autoradiography of <sup>32</sup>P-labeled c-Jun and statistical analysis showing the effect of solvent (S) and ramiprilat (R; 100 nM; 7 min) on the activity of JNK immunoprecipitated from CHO cells overexpressing human somatic ACE (wt-ACE) or one each of the  $N_{His}$ ,  $C_{His}$ ,  $N_{Glu}$ ,  $C_{Glu}$ , or  $N+C_{Glu}$ То ensure mutants. equal immunoprecipitation of JNK, blots were reprobed with an antibody against JNK. The bar graph summarizes the results obtained from four independent experiments; \* p <0.05 versus respective solvent;  $\S$ , p < 0.05; §§, p <0.01 versus basal JNK activity in cells expressing wild-type ACE.
# **3.6.** Divergent gene expression induced by ramiprilat in primary endothelial cells

ACE signalling leads to the activation of JNK/c-Jun pathway and the expression of ACE and COX-2 (131). To identify the genes affected by ramiprilat-induced dimerization and consequent ACE signalling, DNA microarray was used. Human umbilical vein endothelial cells were multi-passaged to ensure that these cells did not posses  $B_2$  receptor and had very little endogenous ACE as both ACE and B<sub>2</sub> receptor levels diminish with passaging the cells. Wild type ACE or the non-phosphorylatable S1270 ACE mutant was then overexpressed in these endothelial cells. Briefly, human umbilical vein endothelial cells overexpressing either human somatic ACE and/or the non-phosphorylatable S1270 ACE mutant were treated with ramiprilat for 24 h and 48 h (Fig. 14). Total RNA was extracted from cultured cells and the integrity of RNA was assessed by visualization of ethidium bromide-stained gels. After prehybridisation, the labeled cDNA probes were hybridized onto Affymetrix oligonucleotide microarray. The relative expression level of each gene was determined by comparing the signal intensity of each gene in the array after background subtraction and normalization to the housekeeping genes. Genes were grouped depending on their expression levels in the control and treated samples in the cells expressing the wild-type ACE and not in the cells overexpressing the nonphosphorylatable mutant ACE which was the criteria for ACE signalling. Upregulation or downregulation of genes was considered if the magnitude of change was at least 4-fold in three independent experiments.

Twenty-one genes were identified out of which seven genes were upregulated and fourteen were downregulated (Table. 2) by ramiprilat in endothelial cells expressing human somatic ACE but not in endothelial cells expressing the non-phosphorylatable S1270 ACE mutant. The genes which were regulated belong to different classes of molecular functions as tabulated (Table. 2). All of the genes, whose induction was four fold changed, were selected for further analysis.



**Fig. 14:** Schematic representation of the protocol followed for the DNA microarray. Human umbilical vein endothelial cells expressing human somatic ACE or non-phosphorylatable S1270 mutant ACE were treated with ramiprilat for 24 h and 48 h. Total RNA was isolated and hybridized to Affymetrix oligo chips. All microarray analysis were performed with three completely different cell batches to ensure the reproducibility of results.

Results

| Activity    | Gene                     | Accession | Function                   |
|-------------|--------------------------|-----------|----------------------------|
|             |                          | number    |                            |
| Upregulated | Cellular retinol binding | NM_002899 | Intracellular transport of |
|             | protein 1                |           | retinol                    |
|             | P57KIP2                  | D64137    | Negative regulator of cell |
|             |                          |           | proliferation              |
|             | CIS2 (STAT induced       | AB004903  | Negative regulator of      |
|             | STAT inhibitor-2)        |           | IGF1/ growth hormone       |
|             |                          |           | signalling pathway         |
|             | CD26                     | M74777    | Peptidase, T-cell          |
|             | (Dipeptidylpeptidase IV) |           | activation                 |
|             | SOX-4                    | AI989477  | Transcriptional activator  |
|             | CC-1(small inducible     | NM_004166 | Cytokine-cytokine          |
|             | cytokine subfamily A)    |           | receptor interaction       |
|             | G8                       | NM_016947 | No known function          |

| Downregulated | Interleukin 8             | NM_000584 | Chemotactic factor for     |
|---------------|---------------------------|-----------|----------------------------|
|               |                           |           | neutrophils, basophils     |
|               |                           |           | and T-cells                |
|               | Mitofusin 2               | NM_014874 | Transmembrane              |
|               |                           |           | mitochondrial GTPase       |
|               | Cyclin F                  | NM_001761 | Regulation of cell cycle   |
|               | Cyclin E2                 | AF112857  | Regulation of cell cycle   |
|               | BRCA2 and CDKN1A          | NM_016567 | Involved in double-strand  |
|               | interacting protein       |           | break repair and/or        |
|               |                           |           | homologous                 |
|               |                           |           | recombination              |
|               | Metallothionein 1H        | NM_005951 | Binds to various heavy     |
|               |                           |           | metals                     |
|               | Kinesin-like 6 (mitotic   | U63743    | Associates with            |
|               | centromere associated     |           | centromeres at early       |
|               | kinesin                   |           | prophase                   |
|               | BRCA1 (Breast cancer 1,   | NM_007295 | DNA repair                 |
|               | early onset)              |           |                            |
|               | Kinesin-like 7            | NM_020242 | Associates with            |
|               |                           |           | microtubules               |
|               | Survivin (baculoviral IAP | NM_001168 | Inhibitor of caspases 3 &  |
|               | repeat-containing 5)      |           | 7                          |
|               | Forkhead box M1           | NM_021953 | Transcriptional activatory |
|               |                           |           | factor                     |
|               | RacGAP 1                  | AU153848  | Electron transporter       |
|               |                           |           | activity                   |
|               | Cell division cycle 25 C  | AF277724  | Tyrosine protein           |
|               |                           |           | phosphatase required for   |
|               |                           |           | progression of the cell    |
|               |                           |           | cycle                      |
|               | PRO2000 protein           | NM_014109 | Nucleoside-triphosphatase  |

Table. 2: List of genes screened through microarray analysis.

#### 3.7. Expression patterns of selected genes in human endothelial cells

Post transcriptional mechanisms could contribute to regulation of specific gene products. Therefore, a subset of genes detected by the gene array was analyzed by Western blot to check for their expression at the protein level. Fig. 15A shows the effect of ramiprilat treatment on the expression profiles of upregulated genes in the microarray data (SOX4, CRBP1, CCL14, p57KIP2). Fig. 15B shows the effect of ramiprilat on the downregulated genes-RacGap1, Survivin, FOXM1, BRCA1 and CDC25 at the protein level in endothelial cells overexpressing wild-type ACE. Surprisingly, in contrast to gene array results, there was no significant differences between the untreated control and ramiprilat (Rami; 100 nM; 24-48 h) treated cells. Although the expression of these genes was substantial enough to be detected by Western blot analysis, we were not able to reproduce similar effects seen in the gene array.



**Fig. 15: Effect of ramiprilat on the expression profiles of modulated genes.** Briefly, human umbilical vein endothelial cells overexpressing wild type ACE were treated with ramiprilat (Rami; 100 nM) for 24 h and 48 h. The cells were harvested and the whole cell lysate was analysed by Western blot. **A,** representative blots showing the expression of upregulated genes SOX4, CCL14, p57KIP2 and **B,** downregulated genes RacGap1, Survivin, FOXM1, BRCA1 and CDC25 in three to five independent experiments.

#### **3.8. Ramiprilat enhances cellular retinol binding protein-1 levels in human** Plasma

As several other cells and tissues also possess fully functional RAS, we screened plasma samples from healthy volunteers as well as from patients manifest with coronary artery disease and also from diabetic patients for the genes identified in the microarray. We observed that cellular retinol binding protein-1 (CRBP-1) was detectable albeit at low levels in plasma from patients (Fig. 16A).



Fig. 16: Effect of ramiprilat on the CRBP-1 levels in human plasma. Plasma from the patients with coronary artery disease treated with/without ramipril, diabetic patients and healthy subjects were analyzed for CRBP-1 by Western blot. A, Representative Western blot showing the levels of CRBP-1 in treated coronary artery disease patients as opposed to untreated control patients and healthy subjects. Human testis protein lysate was used as a positive control. B, Blot showing CRBP-1 levels in diabetic patients compared to healthy subjects. The bar graph represents the percent increase in CRBP1 levels in plasma. \*\* p < 0.01.

However ramipril markedly enhanced the levels of CRBP-1 in the plasma of coronary artery disease patients as compared to the untreated patients as analyzed by Western blotting (Fig. 16A). CRBP-1 levels were also decreased in the plasma of type II diabetic patients compared

to healthy subjects (Fig. 16B). It is worth noting that the treatment of coronary artery disease patients with ramipril, enhanced the plasma CRBP-1 levels by 150% compared to healthy control subjects.

On the basis of gene array results, we analyzed the effects of ramiprilat on CRBP-1 expression. In contrast to the gene array results, wherein ramiprilat increased the gene expression of CRBP-1 by four fold, ramiprilat had no significant modulatory effect on the CRBP-1 expression at the protein level in primary human endothelial cells expressing the wild-type ACE. Next we investigated differences in the expression pattern of CRBP-1 in endothelial cells overexpressing the wild-type ACE or the non-phosphorylatable S1270 mutant ACE and the effect of ramiprilat on CRBP-1. There was no difference in the expression pattern of CRBP-1 between endothelial cells overexpressing wild-type ACE (Fig. 17A) and those overexpressing non-phosphorylatable S1270A mutant ACE (Fig. 17B) and also ramiprilat had no modulatory effect in CRBP-1 expression in either these endothelial cells overexpressing wild-type ACE and the mutant form of ACE.



**Fig. 17: Effect of ramiprilat on the expression of CRBP-1 in endothelial cells.** Human umbilical vein endothelial cells expressing ACE were treated with ramiprilat for 24 h and 48 h and CRBP-1 expression was assessed in whole cell lysate by Western blot **A**, representative western blot showing the effect of solvent (CTL) and ramiprilat (R; 100 nM, 24 h and 48 h) on CRBP-1 expression in endothelial cells overexpressing the wild-type ACE and **B**, in endothelial cells overexpressing the non-phosphorylatable S1270 ACE mutant.

# **3.9.** CRBP-1 overexpression increases the activity of retinoid X receptor (RXR) and PPAR response element (PPRE) promoter in endothelial cells

As we failed to observe any regulation of CRBP-1 protein expression by ramiprilat in endothelial cells, we next sought to investigate the promoter activation of retinoid X receptor element (RXRE) in endothelial cells overexpressing CRBP-1. Since physiologic retinoic acid receptor (RAR/RXR) activation is dependent on the retinoic acid transported by CRBP-1, we next sought to determine whether CRBP-1 overexpression influenced retinoid X receptor element (RXRE) activity in endothelial cells. Porcine endothelial cells overexpressing ACE were transfected with histidine tagged CRBP-1 (His-CRBP1). Control cells were transfected with green fluorescent protein (GFP).



Fig. 18. Effect of overexpression of CRBP1 on the activity of RXRE in endothelial cells. Endothelial cells overexpressing his-CRBP1 were transfected with RXR promotor constructs and stimulated with 9-cis-retinoic acid (9 cis-RA; 1 $\mu$ M), all-trans-retinoic acid (AT-RA; 1 $\mu$ M) for 24 hours. Histogram showing the relative RXRE luciferase activity.

Overexpression of CRBP-1 in endothelial cells was associated in increased activity of RXR in response to stimulation by 9-cis- retinoic acid (1 $\mu$ M) treated for 24 hours. 9-cis-retinoic acid which activates both RXR and RAR family of receptors increased the RXRE activity by 1.9 fold in cells overexpressing CRBP-1 when compared to the cells transfected with GFP alone. In cells overexpressing CRBP-1, 9-cis-retinoic acid increased the RXRE activity by 1.7 fold compared to the solvent control (Fig. 18).



Fig. 19. Effect of overexpression of CRBP1 on the activity of PPRE in endothelial cells. Endothelial cells overexpressing CRBP-1 were transfected with PPRE promotor constructs and stimulated with 9-cis-retinoic acid (9 cis-RA; 1 $\mu$ M), rosiglitazone (Rosi: 100 nM) for 24 hours. Histogram showing the relative PPRE luciferase activity. Activity of PPRE is normalized to the relative luciferase activity of the controls.

PPARγ after binding to a ligand, forms heterodimers with the retinoid X receptor (RXR) and binds to a peroxisome proliferator response element (PPRE) in a gene promoter, leading to the regulation of the gene transcription (145). We next sought to determine if there is promoter activation of PPRE in endothelial cells overexpressing CRBP-1. We observed an increase in PPRE luciferase activity in response to its ligand rosiglitazone (Rosi; 100 nM) by 1.9 fold compared to solvent control in cells overexpressing GFP (Fig. 19), while rosiglitazone increased the PPRE activity by 4 fold in cells overexpressing CRBP-1 compared to cells not expressing CRBP-1 at all. Together these results suggest that overexpression of CRBP-1 influences the RXR and PPRE activity probably by increased availability and/or transport of retinol derivatives which serve as ligands for RXRE/PPRE.

#### **3.10.** ACE signalling in human monocytes

Although the ACE signalling pathway (ACE/CK2/JNK) was first demonstrated in endothelial cells, ACE signalling pathway has not been addressed in monocytes/macrophages which

Results

possess functional local RAS. Circulating monocytes, which adhere to endothelial cell lesions, differentiate within the vascular wall to ACE-containing macrophages or foam cells with increased local synthesis of ACE and angiotensin II promoting atherosclerosis. No clear data is available on the mechanistic action of ACE inhibitors on monocytes/macrophages in reducing the events of atherosclerosis.



**Fig. 20:** ACE expression in monocytes in culture. Peripheral blood monocytes were isolated from whole blood and CD14+ monocytes were cultured with 5% human serum. A, Representative Western blot showing increase in ACE expression with time in culture. Endothelial cells overexpressing human somatic ACE was used as positive control. This blot represents results from 3 different experiments. **B**, Autoradiography of <sup>32</sup>P labeled c-Jun showing the effect of solvent (CTL) and ramiprilat (Rami; 100 nM; 2 and 7 min) in four days old ACE expressing monocytes. Bar graph summarizes data from 3 independent experiments; \*, p < 0.05.

We first sought to study the expression levels of ACE in monocytes in culture. Substantial ACE expression increases with increase in time of culture, as seen from four days old monocytes cultured with 5% human serum (Fig. 20A). To investigate ACE signalling in monocytes, we assessed the ability of ramiprilat to activate JNK in ACE expressing

monocytes. Ramiprilat (Rami; 100 nM, 2 and 7 min) was able to increase the phosphorylation of c-Jun thus indicating the activation of JNK in ACE expressing human monocytes (Fig. 20B). Thus these results suggest the existence of ACE signalling in monocytes.

# **3.11.** Effect of ramiprilat on nuclear peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARγ) levels in human monocytes

One of the most intriguing and clinically relevant findings related to RAS inhibition using either ACE inhibitors or  $AT_1$  receptor antagonists is their ability to delay the onset of type 2 diabetes. The mechanisms underlying this effect are not clear but may be related to the activation of PPARy, a nuclear receptor that influences the expression of genes involved in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism (40). Enalapril activated PPARy in aortae from apolipoprotein E-deficient mice (146) and also it was reported that certain angiotensin receptor blockers, like telmisartan induces PPARy activity (147;148). Therefore we next sought to investigate if ACE inhibitors activate PPARy in human monocytes cultured with human serum. Ramiprilat at 100 nM elicited a 1.7 fold increase in PPARy levels in the nuclear extracts (Fig. 21A) which was comparable to the increase in PPAR $\gamma$  levels by potent agonist of PPARy, rosiglitazone (100 nM; Fig. 21B). Ramiprilat (100 nM) was able to increase the PPAR $\gamma$  levels similar to rosiglitazone (100 nM) which is a potent agonist of PPARy (Fig. 21B). The increased PPARy levels were seen in the nuclear extracts of monocytes treated with ramiprilat but not in whole cell lysates suggesting that ramiprilat might increase the concentrations of PPAR $\gamma$  into the nucleus or diminish its degradation to increase the availability of PPAR $\gamma$  to result in expression of genes related to antiinflammation in these cells.



Fig. 21: Effect of ramiprilat on PPAR $\gamma$  levels in human monocytes. Human monocytes were cultured in 5% human serum for four days and treated thereafter with ramiprilat for 24 h. A, Representative blot showing the effect of ramiprilat (Rami; 10, 30, 100 nM) on PPAR $\gamma$  levels in nuclear extracts of human monocytes. Bar graph summarizes the results from three different experiments. **B**, Blot showing the increase in PPAR $\gamma$  levels by ramiprilat compared to rosiglitazone at 100 nM each. Blots were reprobed for equal loading on each lane for  $\beta$ actin. PPAR $\gamma$  levels were normalized to loading control  $\beta$ actin.

We next hypothesized that ramiprilat might increase the levels of 15-deoxy-D-12,14prostaglandin J2 (15dPGJ2) which is a natural ligand for PPAR $\gamma$  via cyclooxygenase enzymes in monocytes and also it was previously demonstrated that binding of an ACE inhibitor leads to the activation of JNK/c-Jun pathway and increase in the expression of ACE and COX-2 (131). To determine whether COX-2 expression is increased in monocytes, human monocytes were cultured for four days with human serum and treated with ramiprilat for 24 and 48 h. Under basal conditions, COX-2 expression per se diminishes with time in culture, however ramiprilat prevented the diminution in the relative levels of COX-2 uptp 48 hours of treatment (Fig. 22). However we failed to observe any modulation in the levels of 15dPGJ2 as the 15dPGJ2 levels were too low to be detected by ELISA.



**Fig. 22: Effect of ramiprilat on COX-2 expression in human monocytes.** Human CD14+ monocytes were cultured in the presence of 5% human serum and treated with solvent (CTL) and ramiprilat (R; 100 nM; 24 and 48 h). Representative Western blots showing the expression of COX-2 under basal conditions and in the presence of ramiprilat. COX-2 levels were normalized to βactin. Bar graph summarizes the results obtained from five to seven different experiments.

3.12. Effect of ramiprilat on nuclear PPARy levels in human endothelial cells

To explore the possibility of similar observation seen in human monocytes with regard to increase in nuclear PPAR $\gamma$  levels in endothelial cells as well, human umbilical vein endothelial cells overexpressing somatic ACE were treated with ramiprilat (100 nM) for 24 h. Ramiprilat increased the nuclear levels of PPAR $\gamma$  in endothelial cells as well. The effect of ramiprilat was more pronounced in increasing the PPAR $\gamma$ 1 than  $\gamma$ 2 levels (Fig. 23).



Fig. 23: Ramiprilat enhances PPARy levels in human endothelial cells. Human umbilical vein endothelial cells overexpressing wild-type ACE were treated with ramiprilat (Rami) and rosiglitazone, (Rosi) each at 100 nM and treated for 24 h. Nuclear extracts of treated monocytes were analyzed for PPARy. Human adipocyte whole cell lysate was used as a positive control. Blots were reprobed to check for equal loading for  $\beta$ actin. PPARy1 levels were normalized to βactin. Bar graph represents data from 3 different experiments.

The substantial increase in nuclear PPAR $\gamma$  levels by ramiprilat as comparable to rosiglitazone was unfortunately not so reproducible owing to the very low levels of PPAR $\gamma$  in human endothelial cells and also due to high variability between each batch of cells from human umbilical cords.

To investigate the effects of ACE inhibitors on transcriptional activation of PPAR $\gamma$ , porcine aortic endothelial cells overexpressing ACE were transfected with a GAL4 reporter construct (i.e., 3X PPRE-TK-Luc). The transfected cells were treated with ramiprilat, rosiglitazone each at 100 nM and rosiglitazone (100 nM) in combination with PPAR $\gamma$  antagonist GW9662 (30µM) for 36 h. Compared with controls, rosiglitazone markedly activated the luciferase activity of the reporter gene, while combination treatment of PPAR $\gamma$  antagonist and rosiglitazone had a mild effect but ramiprilat did not have any effect on the promoter activity of PPAR response element (Fig. 24). These results suggest that the ramiprilat-induced activation of PPAR $\gamma$  levels could be through an independent mechanism and not by direct transcriptional activation of the promoter.



Fig. 24: No effect on PPRE activity by ramiprilat. Porcine aortic endothelial cells overexpressing ACE were transfected with PPRE X 3-TK-Luc were treated with ramiprilat (Rami; 100 nM), rosiglitazone (Rosi; 100 nM) and rosiglitazone (100 nM) in combination with PPARy antagonist GW9662 (GW; 30µM) for 36 h. All cells were lysed for luciferase. The bar graph represents the relative luciferase activity, defined as the normalized luciferase activity in reference to that of vehicle- treated controls (CTL) and summarizes results from 4 different experiments: \*, p < 0.05; \*\*\*, p <0.0001.

#### 3.13. ACE inhibitor regulates adiponectin, a downstream target of PPARy

Adiponectin is approximately 30 kDa plasma protein that is found in multimeric complexes in the circulation at relatively high levels in healthy human subjects. Adiponectin protein is secreted specifically from adipose tissue (149;150). Adipokine adiponectin is known to exert anti-inflammatory and insulin-sensitizing effects and is a downstream target of PPAR $\gamma$ . Since we failed to observe any activation of PPAR $\gamma$  responsive element we hypothesized that there might be an increased heterodimerization between PPAR $\gamma$  and RXR $\alpha$  probably via CRBP-1.



Fig. 25: Effect of ACE inhibitors on adiponectin in human adipocytes. Human adipocytes were treated with ACE inhibitors ramiprilat (Rami; 30 nM, 100 nM), enalaprilat (Enala; 30 nM, 100 nM), Angiotensin II receptor blocker-telmisartan (Telmi; 100 nM) and rosiglitazone (Rosi; 100 nM) for 24 hours respectively. The cell supernatent was harvested and analyzed for adiponectin by Western blotting.

Both the ACE inhibitors increased the relative amount of adiponectin secreted in the culture medium as analysed by Western blotting (Fig. 25). The supernatant harvested from the human adipocytes also had increased amount of soluble ACE compared to the ACE present in the whole cell lysate (Fig. 25).

We were able to translate the *in vitro* observation in *in vivo* experiments as well. Ramipril treatment also enhanced adiponectin levels in serum from C57 black mice treated for 5 days, as analyzed by ELISA (Fig. 26A). We also analyzed adiponectin levels in the serum samples from ob/ob mice treated with ramipril (Rami; 5mg/kg/day), rosiglitazone (Rosi; 3mg/kg/day) and in combination (Rami+Rosi). The adiponectin levels in serum of the combination treatment in ob/ob mice were significantly higher than rosiglitazone or ramiprilat alone suggesting a synergistic effect (Fig. 26B).



**Fig. 26: Effect of ramipril treatment on plasma adiponectin levels.** A, plasma from C57 black mice (which were treated for 5 days with ramipril, 5mg/kg/day), was analyzed by ELISA for adiponectin. **B**, plasma adiponectin levels in Ob/Ob mice, as analyzed by ELISA. Ob/Ob mice were treated for 10 weeks with ramipril (Rami; 5mg/kg/day), rosiglitazone (Rosi; 3mg/kg/day) and in combination by oral gavage. \* p< 0.05 \*\* p< 0.001 \*\*\* p< 0.001

Adiponectin levels have been reported to be lower in patients with coronary artery disease compared to healthy counterparts (151;152). We next determined whether ACE inhibitor has any effect on adiponectin levels in plasma samples from patients with coronary artery disease treated with or without ramipril (5mg/day) and compared to healthy subjects. Ramipril enhanced the relative amount of adiponectin in plasma from patients with coronary artery disease treated with ramipril by 3.5 fold compared to either untreated patients with coronary artery disease or by 7.5 fold when compared to plasma adiponectin levels in healthy subjects (Fig. 27).



Fig. 27: Effect of ramipril treatment on adiponectin in plasma from patients with coronary artery disease. Plasma from healthy subjects, patients with coronary artery disease treated with or without ramipril was analyzed by Western blotting for adiponectin. Bar graph summarizes data obtained from five patients in each group. \*\*\* p < 0.0001.

#### 3.14. NF- KB activation by ramiprilat in human monocytes

Nuclear factor- $\kappa$ b (NF- $\kappa$ B) is an inducible transcription factor that plays a role in the expression of spectrum of genes involved in immune and inflammatory responses and cell survival. It has been suggested that many anti-inflammatory effects of PPAR's might depend on the inhibition of the NF- $\kappa$ B signalling pathway (153). To elucidate the effect of ACE inhibitors on activation of NF- $\kappa$ B, electrophoretic mobility shift assay (EMSA) was performed. Nuclear extracts from human monocytes treated with ramiprilat (Rami; 10, 30, 100 nM; 24h) did not show any strong DNA binding activity for NF- $\kappa$ B (Fig. 28) as compared to monocytes treated with TNF $\alpha$  (10 ng/mL; 30 min). These results suggest that ramiprilat does have a slight inhibitory effect on activation of NF- $\kappa$ B.



**Fig. 28: Effect of ramiprilat on NF-κB activation:** Human primary monocytes were cultured for 4 days in the presence of human serum and exposed to with or without ramiprilat (Rami; 10, 30, 100 nM; 24h). Cells were harvested, nuclear extracts prepared, and EMSA performed using a radiolabelled oligonucleotide containing the consensus site for NF-κB. Representative autoradiograph demonstrating that ramiprilat, has no significant effect on NF-κB activation compared to positive control. Nuclear extracts from monocytes treated with TNFα for 30 min was used as a positive control. Specific NF-κB band is indicated by arrow. Bar graph is representative of two to three separate experiments.

### 4. Discussion

#### 4.1. ACE dimerization initiates ACE signalling in endothelial cells

The findings of this study demonstrate that ACE occurs as a homodimer as well as a monomer in endothelial cells. Binding of an ACE inhibitor to the enzyme significantly enhances ACE dimer formation. The integrity of C-terminal active site of ACE seems to be the determining factor for ACE dimerization as the ACE-inhibitor induced dimerization as well as the ACE inhibitor-induced phosphorylation of ACE on Ser<sup>1270</sup> and the subsequent activation of JNK pathway was abrogated by the mutation of two critical histidyl residues that bind zinc ions. Given that dimer formation correlated with the time course of the inhibitor-induced ACE phosphorylation on Ser<sup>1270</sup>, the dimerization of ACE thus may be the initial step in the ACE signalling pathway recently identified in endothelial cells.

Protein-protein interactions resulting in dimerization and heterodimerization are of central importance in the control of gene expression and cell function. Analysis of the quaternary structure of several membrane-bound and secretory proteins has demonstrated that dimer or oligomer formation is an important event that is required for efficient intracellular transport of these proteins, enhances their efficacy and also might be important for signal transduction (154-156). Other type I membrane glycoproteins, such as the  $\beta$ -secretase ( $\beta$ -site amyloid precursor protein cleaving enzyme) are also able to dimerize and thus regulate their intracellular and/or extracellular functions (157). Similar to ACE,  $\beta$ -site amyloid precursor protein cleaving enzyme can be phosphorylated on a serine residue near its C-terminus and can also be cleaved from the cell surface (158).

High molecular mass aggregates of ACE that might represent homodimers have been found during the purification of the enzyme from human lung (159) and also in *in vitro* experiments by using reverse micelles and ACE-expressing COS cells (143;160). Mature somatic ACE has a calculated molecular mass of 149.7 kDa, due to the glycosylation of the enzyme, the molecular mass of the enzyme is between 170 and 180 kDa revealed by denaturing electrophoresis (161;162). Other forms of human somatic ACE exists as an immature form in intracellular compartments (~170 kDa) and a soluble form (~ 175 kDa) which is cleaved from the plasma membrane (163). ACE is synthesized as a single polypeptide precursor that matures in the Golgi apparatus by acquisition of complex-type oligosaccharides and is then inserted into the membrane. ACE has been shown to exist in dimeric form *in vitro* (64;160)

Native gel electrophoresis is an excellent tool to detect oligomers and aggregates. By means of native gel electrophoresis, wherein the electrophoretic mobility of proteins depends primarily on both the protein's charge and its hydrodynamic size, we found that ACE migrates not only as monomers but also as dimers. Results obtained from the split-ubiquitin assay revealed that ACE dimerization is more pronounced in living cells (yeast) than in *in vitro* assay system confirming that ACE forms functional dimers. Cross-linking of ACE on the surface of the endothelial cells indicated that ACE forms dimers on the cell-surface, albeit that the population of ACE dimers is relatively small as we could observe relatively low level of dimers formed and could be attributed to methodological problems related to the detection of ACE dimers by the antibodies used in this study. Dimerization of proteins usually involves covalent and non-covalent interactions. The mechanism of ACE dimerization seems to be similar to the noncovalent interactions involved in dimerization of other membrane proteins, where disulfide links are involved, for example, platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) (166).

Given that ACE forms dimers in endothelial cells, we next determined whether the binding of an ACE inhibitor to ACE has any effect on dimer/monomer population in the endothelial cells. Our results demonstrated that the treatment of endothelial cells with ramiprilat, increased the dimer/monomer ratio. The formation of ACE dimers also correlated well with the ACE inhibitor induced phosphorylation of the enzyme on Ser<sup>1270</sup>. The ACE inhibitorinduced phosphorylation of ACE is biphasic, that is the phosphorylation increased from 2 to 7 minutes and elevation is maintained again after 6 to 48 hours (130). ACE-induced dimerization thus preceded in the phosphorylation of the Ser<sup>1270</sup> in the cytoplasmic domain as previously demonstrated (130) and activation of the signalling cascade culminating in changes in the endothelial gene expression (131). The formation of ACE dimers was also observed when cells were stimulated with enalaprilat, guinaprilat and captopril indicating that this is a specific effect by this class of compounds. ACE dimer formation was unequivocally observed in an endothelial cell line overexpressing human somatic ACE as well as in primary cultures of human umbilical vein endothelial cells that endogenously express ACE, indicating that the effects observed cannot be attributed to an artifact associated with the overexpression system.

Somatic ACE is principally N-glycosylated with a mixture of both N-acetyl-lactosaminyl (complex) sugars and oligomannosidyl or hybrid sugars (65;84;167). Somatic ACE harbours 17 potential N-linked glycosylation sites. Ten such sites occur in the N domain, for which

carbohydrates constitute 37% of its molecular mass, while the C-domain has seven such sites (66;142;167;168). It has been previously suggested that ACE dimerization has been attributed to interactions between its carbohydrate side chains and a carbohydrate recognition domain at its N-domain that are sensitive to treatment with galactose (160), we therefore investigated the effects of galactose, glucose or mannitol on basal or the ramiprilat-induced dimerization of ACE. However, we were unable to find any significant interference of these monosaccharides with ACE dimerization. It has also been suggested that the 9B9 monoclonal antibody directed against the putative carbohydrate recognition domain region can interfere with ACE selfassociation (143). Therefore we tested various antibodies directed to the epitopes of Ndomain of ACE on dimer formation. The monoclonal antibodies had no effect on the basal or ramiprilat-induced dimerization of ACE but displayed differential effects on shedding of the enzyme. It has been reported previously that the monoclonal antibodies directed to different epitopes of human ACE, induced shedding of the enzyme and also has been linked to inhibition of dimerization (143). In our study, we observed that the shedding of the enzyme was apparent with monoclonal antibodies 9B9 and 3A5 as reported previously (143) but we failed to see any link between shedding and dimerization. The differences in the results observed, related to the effects on dimerization, by the authors (143) and our results is possibly due to the experimental model used to study dimerization as we used endothelial cells in culture and not reverse micelles (64) which might be a pseudo-physiological system to study dimerization.

Dimerization plays an important role in the functioning of many membrane proteins (169;170). To determine whether dimerization of ACE is linked to the recently described ACE signalling cascade, which involves the ACE inhibitor-induced phosphorylation of the enzyme on Ser<sup>1270</sup> and subsequent activation of JNK pathway (129;130), we compared the effects of ramiprilat on the dimerization of the wild-type ACE as well as of the S1270A ACE mutant. Ramiprilat elicited dimerization of both the wild-type and the S1270A ACE, indicating that the phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail of the enzyme does not influence dimer formation but requires intact extracellular domains to form dimers.

Although the N- and C-domains of ACE resulted as a consequence of gene duplication (73), there are marked functional differences between these two domains of ACE, despite the high degree of sequence homology. The rate of hydrolysis of various synthetic and natural substrates by the two domains differs, with the C-domain of human ACE having higher catalytic constants for Hip-His-Leu, angiotensin I, bradykinin, and substance P, whereas the N-domain hydrolyzes LH-RH and the negative hematopoietic regulator N-Ac-Ser-Asp-Lys-Pro at much higher rates (55;57;171). The C-terminal domain is more sensitive to chloride

activation (57;172). Most of the competitive ACE inhibitors bind tightly with the C-domain active center (173). The two domains of ACE differ also in conformation (174;175). The striking functional difference between the N- and the C-domains of ACE is found to be the conversion of angiotensin I which takes place preferentially within the C-domain and selective C-domain inhibition is adequate to prevent angiotensin I-induced vasoconstriction (176). Also evidence points out that the N-domain of ACE may be functionally less significant, as the RXP407 peptide which specifically inhibits the N-domain of ACE has no effect on blood pressure (177).

We therefore sought to determine whether interfering with the dimerization of ACE affected the ACE inhibitor-induced phosphorylation of the enzyme and/or subsequent activation of JNK by using different C-or N-domain inactive ACE mutants. Different C- or N-domain inactive ACE mutants overexpressed in CHO cells revealed that the C-domain is more important for dimerization rather than the N-domain. Analysis of the inactivation of the Cdomain by mutation of the two essential  $Zn^{2+}$  complexing histidyl residues of the HEMGH consensus sequence completely abrogated the enzyme's ability to dimerize either under basal conditions or in response to ramiprilat. Mutation within the C-domain also abolished the inhibitor-induced signalling, in as much as we failed to observe ramiprilat-induced increase in Ser1270 phosphorylation and/or subsequent activation of JNK pathway. However, mutation of the N-domain did not affect ACE-inhibitor induced dimerization and subsequent ACE signalling. Given that N-domain bears a carbohydrate recognizing domain and has more putative glycosylation sites than C-domain (59;69;142), in this case N-domain was not found to be essential for dimerization. Although we do not know how ACE inhibitors can effect ACE dimerization via the C-domain, it is possible that their binding induces conformational changes that eventually result in the exposure of a dimerization domain, as has been reported for the ligand-induced dimerization of the epidermal growth factor receptor (178).

Results of the present study suggests that the ACE inhibitor-induced dimerization of ACE, via the C-domain of the enzyme commences the ACE signalling pathway that involves subsequent activation of the JNK/c-Jun pathway and leads to changes in endothelial cell gene expression illustrated in Fig. 26.



**Fig. 26:** Scheme summarizing the ACE inhibitor-induced dimerization of ACE, via the C-domain of the enzyme, representing the initial step in the ACE signalling pathway that involves the activation of the JNK/c-Jun pathway and leads to changes in endothelial cell gene expression.

#### 4.2. Downstream effectors of ACE signalling pathway in endothelial cells

ACE signalling results in the translocation of phosphorylated c-Jun to the nucleus and enhanced binding of the activator protein (AP)-1 transcription factor to the DNA, followed by the increased expression of ACE (130) and COX-2 (131). Increased ACE and COX-2 levels could be associated with improvement in endothelial cell function and has physiological relevance as increased ACE levels have been demonstrated in lung tissue and plasma from rats treated with ACE inhibitor (179) and in the serum from patients who distinctly benefit from ACE inhibitor therapy (180). Prostacyclin production is significantly increased in

patients treated with ACE inhibitors and selective COX-2 inhibition attenuates the positive effects of ACE inhibitors on blood pressure (181).

To identify the downstream effectors of the many beneficial effects of ACE inhibitors which cannot be attributed only to inhibition of angiotensin II generation (as angiotensin II levels are not decreased during long term ACE inhibitor therapy) and bradykinin degradation, we used DNA microarray technology. We identified 21 genes (in addition to ACE and COX-2) that are differentially regulated (7 upregulated and 14 downregulated) (Table. 1) by ramiprilat in endothelial cells expressing wild-type ACE but not in cells expressing a non-phosphorylatable ACE mutant (wherein Ser<sup>1270</sup> is replaced with alanine) which was the criteria for ACE signalling. In contrast to the gene array results, we failed to detect any difference between the solvent control and ramiprilat treated endothelial cells in the regulation of modulated genes. We failed to see any modulation of the expression levels of the selected genes by ramiprilat even after prolonged exposure to ramiprilat at the protein level, although the expression levels of the selected genes.

Cellular retinol binding protein 1 (CRBP-1) was upregulated by ramiprilat in endothelial cells overexpressing wild-type ACE by four fold in the microarray. However there was no difference in CRBP-1 expression per se between endothelial cells expressing wild-type ACE or the non-phosphorylatable ACE. Moreover we failed to see any modulation by ramiprilat on CRBP-1 levels in endothelial cells expressing either the wild-type ACE or the S1270A mutant ACE.

Local functional RAS has been described in other cells and tissues so we screened for the plasma samples from healthy volunteers as well from patients with coronary artery disease for the genes identified in the microarray. We observed that CRBP-1 was detectable at low levels in the plasma samples and also ramipril markedly increased the levels of CRBP-1. CRBP-1 belongs to the fatty-acid binding protein (FABP) family. In humans, CRBP-1 is highly expressed in the ovaries, pituitary gland, testes, adrenal glands, and liver where it is much more abundant in hepatic stellate cells than in hepatocytes. Although the physiologic importance of CRBP-1 in the disease processes is largely unknown, it has been proven that CRBP-1 levels is decreased in various cancers (182;183). Therefore considering the molecular function and post-translation profiles of the regulated genes, we found Cellular retinal binding protein-1 (CRBP1) to be regulated distinctly by ramiprilat in human plasma from patients manifest with coronary artery disease, treated with ramipril. CRBP-1 levels were also diminished in plasma from diabetic patients as compared to the healthy subjects.

However we do not know yet as to whether diabetic patients treated with ramipril also have enhanced levels of plasma CRBP-1 similar to coronary artery patients treated with ramipril. Although CRBP-1 levels were not regulated by ramiprilat in cultured endothelial cells, it is tempting to speculate that the plasma CRBP-1 might be contributed by other tissues such as

adipose tissue, wherein a functional local RAS is present. It needs to be investigated how ramiprilat regulates plasma CRBP-1 levels in human patients or whether ramiprilat acts on other tissues where there might be an active ACE signalling pathway.

Retinoid signalling requires a prenuclear phase, which is regulated by CRBP's. CRBP-1 is considered essential for vitamin A homeostasis. The most important physiologic functions of CRBP-1 is to bind to retinol from blood, esterification and intercellular transfer of retinol between cells, more so in between liver cells (184). CRBP-1 facilitates the retinoid transport from the cytoplasm into the nucleus and influences the ligand binding of the nuclear receptors (185;186). Therefore we assessed whether overexpressing CRBP-1 would have any effect on the activity of PPRE and RXRE. We found that in endothelial cells overexpressing CRBP-1, 9-cis-retinoic acid increased the RXR activity and rosiglitazone increased the activity of PPRE suggesting that overexpression of CRBP-1 favours the conversion of retinol into retinoic acid which is the ligand for PPRE/RXR/RAR and promotes gene expression. However, the regulation of CRBP-1 by ramiprilat still needs further investigation.



**Fig. 27. Scheme illustrating the reliance of PPAR signalling on RXR/RAR**. Retinol is transported bound to CRBP-1 and is converted to retinoic acid (RA), Retinoic acid binds to RA receptors (RARs) and the retinoid X receptors (RXRs). RXRs function as obligate heterodimer partners for PPARs. Upon binding to ligands, PPAR heterodimerizes with RXR and regulates the expression of genes.

#### 4.3. ACE signalling in monocytes

Atherosclerosis is initiated by dysfunction of endothelial cells at lesion-prone sites in the walls of arteries, promoting a proinflammatory vasculature and results in monocyte infiltration into the arterial intima (187). These monocytes then differentiate into macrophages, which then internalise large amounts of low-density lipoprotein forming cholesterol-laden macrophages called foam cells (188). Given the clinical significance of activated monocytes, and that angiotensin II activates monocytes and stimulates the expression of tissue factor as well as the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (189), it is most likely that ACE in monocytes would aggravate inflammatory responses. To determine if the ACE signalling pathway exists in monocytes, we first examined ACE expression in monocytes derived from human blood. ACE expression significantly increased in monocytes cultured for 4 days with human serum and on exposure to ramiprilat we observed JNK activation. Taken together, these results indicate that there is ACE signalling in monocytes. On binding of ACE inhibitor, ACE functions as a signal transduction molecule in human monocytes.

One of the most relevant findings from clinical trials related to either ACE inhibitors (190) or  $AT_1$  receptor antagonists (191;192) is their ability to delay the onset of type 2 diabetes. The mechanisms underlying this effect are unclear but may be related to the activation of PPAR $\gamma$ , a nuclear receptor that influences the expression of multiple genes involved in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism (40). Enalapril was shown to activate PPAR $\gamma$  in aortae from apolipoprotein E knockout mice (146) and also  $AT_1$  receptor blocker telmisartan acts as a selective PPAR $\gamma$  modulator (147;148).

Human monocyte derived macrophages have been found to express PPAR $\gamma$  (193);198). PPAR $\gamma$  activation in monocytes and macrophages is associated with anti-inflammatory actions. PPAR $\gamma$  agonists were shown to inhibit monocyte cytokine production and macrophage activation (194;195). It has been reported that PPAR $\gamma$  activation leads to attenuation of early and advanced atherosclerosis (196).

We next investigated the ability of ramiprilat to activate PPAR $\gamma$  in monocytes. Ramiprilat increased the PPAR $\gamma$  levels in the nuclear extracts of human monocytes but not in whole cell lysates. The increase in nuclear PPAR $\gamma$  levels by ramiprilat was similar to that of rosiglitazone which is a known PPAR $\gamma$  agonist and used to treat Type II diabetes. The

possible mechanism of the result observed, could be that ramiprilat might increase the PPAR $\gamma$ levels in the nucleus where it binds to its heterodimeric partner RXR and increases the gene expression. We next investigated whether this phenomenon could be reproduced in human endothelial cells, wherein ACE signalling pathway was demonstrated. We found that ramiprilat increased PPARy levels in the nuclear extracts of human endothelial cells as well. This observation seems to be complex to understand as human umbilical vein endothelial cells generally have very low levels of PPAR $\gamma$  and probably depends on the genetic make-up of the donor which may or may not be sensitive to treatment with ramiprilat and therefore the results observed were not so reproducible. We next sought to determine if ramiprilat has any effect on the promoter activity of PPAR's as reported for telmisartan, an angiotensin II receptor blocker which increased the activity of PPRE. Endothelial cells expressing ACE and transfected with 3 copies of PPRE did not show any increase in activity on treatment with ramiprilat while rosiglitazone increased the PPRE activity and also PPARy antagonist GW9662 along with rosiglitazone had a marginal effect. These results indicated the increase in PPARy by ramiprilat is not through transcriptional activation but by indirect means which still needs further investigation.

As we failed to see any promoter activation of PPRE by ramiprilat we next hypothesized that ramiprilat might increase the levels of 15-deoxy-D-12,14 prostaglandin J2 (15dPGJ2) which is a natural ligand for PPAR $\gamma$  by means of cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes. Therefore we next determined COX-2 expression in monocytes treated with ramiprilat and we observed that ramiprilat was able to decrease the diminution of COX-2 levels upto 48 hours but the levels of 15dPGJ2 were too low to be detected by ELISA. Taken together these results suggest that ACE inhibitors initiate ACE signalling and leads to enhanced expression of ACE, COX-2, CRBP-1 which in turn favours the heterodimerization of PPAR $\gamma$  with RXR.

Angiotensin II has been shown to activate NF- $\kappa$ B mediated genes and thereby leading to the downregulation of PPAR's (197). It has also been suggested that many of the antiinflammatory effects of PPAR's may be due to the inhibition of the NF- $\kappa$ B signalling pathway (153). We therefore assessed whether ramiprilat downregulates NF- $\kappa$ B in human monocytes expressing ACE. Ramiprilat did not enhance DNA binding to NF- $\kappa$ B in human monocytes compared to TNF $\alpha$ . Further investigation is needed to address this issue as to how ramiprilat interferes with NF- $\kappa$ B pathway.

#### 4.4 ACE inhibitor regulates adiponectin, downstream target of PPARy

Since ramipril enhanced the plasma levels of CRBP1 in patients with type 2 diabetes or coronary artery disease and CRBP1 potentially influences the nuclear receptor proteins (RAR/RXR), which are abundant in adipose tissue and regulates adipocyte gene expression together with PPAR, we therefore analysed the effect of ACE inhibitor on adipokine expression as adipose tissue does have components of RAS. ACE inhibitors increased the adiponectin levels in the culture supernatant of adipocytes isolated from visceral fat. Plasma samples from mice (C57 black mice; ob/ob mice) treated with ramipril also demonstrated enhanced adiponectin levels compared to untreated control mice.

Adiponectin levels are decreased in patients with obesity, diabetes and coronary artery disease. Treatment with ACE inhibitor restored the plasma adiponectin levels in patients with coronary artery disease. The mechanisms by which ramiprilat enhances adiponectin levels however is yet to be investigated. Taken together these data suggest that ACE inhibitor affects adipocyte homeostasis, probably through activation of RAR/RXR-PPAR $\gamma$  signalling. Enhanced plasma levels of anti-inflammatory and anti-atherogenic adipokine adiponectin may be the one of the ways by which ACE inhibitor exerts positive effects in patients with type 2 diabetes and thereby preventing the onset of the disease.



Fig. 27: Scheme summarizing the effects of ACE inhibitor through ACE signalling.

#### Summary

The angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) is an important component of the reninangiotensin system (RAS) and is crucially involved in the homeostasis of fluid and electrolyte balance and thus in the regulation of blood pressure. The zinc metallopeptidase is involved in the generation of angiotensin II, a potent vasoconstrictor and in the degradation of bradykinin, a potent vasodilator. It is worth noting that ACE more readily hydrolyzes bradykinin than it does angiotensin I thus culminating in the net physiological effect of the production of a vasoconstrictor and the decrease in the availability of a vasodilator. ACE inhibitors have become one of the most successful therapeutic approaches as a first line of therapy in hypertension, and are also widely used in treating heart failure, myocardial infarction, stroke, coronary artery disease and impaired left ventricular function. However, one unexpected clinically relevant finding related to ACE inhibitors is their ability to delay the onset of type II diabetes that was revealed by various large clinical trials. However, the mechanisms underlying these beneficial effects of ACE inhibitor therapy are currently unclear and cannot be explained by the prevention of angiotensin II formation or the attenuated degradation of bradykinin. Thus the potential beneficial effects attributed to ACE inhibitors may occur independent of reductions in blood pressure paving way for new and/or unknown mechanism.

Our group has recently redefined ACE as a signal transduction molecule which upon binding to ACE inhibitor turns on a signalling cascade leading to phosphorylation of Ser<sup>1270</sup> by CK2, activation of JNK and changes in gene expression in endothelial cells. However the mechanism by which ACE inhibitor initiates the signalling cascade was not clear. It was hypothesized that ACE, which is anchored to the membrane with a single transmembrane domain should dimerize prior to initiating further downstream signalling events in endothelial cells and whether ACE dimerization is essential for the initiation of ACE signalling in endothelial cells and whether ACE dimerization is essential for the initiation of ACE signalling in endothelial cells and that there is an increase in the dimer formation upon treatment of endothelial cells with ACE inhibitors. ACE homodimerization was also demonstrated using the split-ubiquitin system and chemical cross-linking experiments. ACE dimers are also formed in endothelial cells overexpressing the non-phosphorylatable ACE, wherein ACE signalling was abolished indicating that dimerization process is not influenced by the phosphorylation of the serine residue residing in the cytoplasmic tail. Monosaccharides like glucose, galactose and mannitol

Summary

did not have any influence on ACE-inhibitor induced dimerization. Making use of different monoclonal antibodies directed to the epitopes of N-domain which harbours carbohydrate recognizing domain, also did not affect dimerization. However, inactivation of the C-domain active site by introducing mutation of the key histidine residues in HEMGH consensus sequences, which complexes the zinc ions, abolished enzyme dimerization both in the basal state and in response to ramiprilat. Mutation of the C-domain also resulted in the loss of ACE inhibitor-induced ACE signalling, that is we failed to observe ramiprilat-induced increase in the phosphorylation of the Ser<sup>1270</sup> and the subsequent JNK activation. ACE-inhibitor induced dimerization precedes the phosphorylation of Ser<sup>1270</sup> and activation of JNK. Thus the ACE-inhibitor induced dimerization via the C-domain of ACE represents the initial step in the ACE signalling pathway which involves the activation of JNK/c-Jun pathway and leading to the changes in the gene expression in endothelial cells.

Our group previously identified ACE itself as well as cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) as two "ACE signalling-regulated" genes. To screen for additional genes regulated in a similar manner we used DNA microarray technology, to assess ramiprilat-induced changes in the endothelial cell gene expression. 21 genes were identified to be differentially regulated of which, 7 were upregulated and 14 were downregulated by ramiprilat. However, when screened at the protein level, we found no significant differences between the untreated control cells and those treated with ramiprilat. As several other cells and tissues possess a fully functional RAS we screened plasma samples from healthy volunteers as well as from patients with coronary artery disease for the proteins identified in the microarray. We observed that the cellular retinal binding protein-1 (CRBP-1) was detectable at low levels in plasma from patients and that ramipril markedly increased serum levels of this protein. Endothelial cells overexpressing CRBP-1 demonstrated increased RXRE and PPRE activity when stimulated with 9-cis retinoic acid and rosiglitazone respectively suggesting that CRBP-1 might affect gene expression via heterodimerization of PPAR elements with RXR elements by virtue of its function as a transport protein of retinoic acid. Studies aimed at determining the consequences of elevated CRBP-1 expression on endothelial cell homeostasis are ongoing.

Although the RAS has been described in many other tissues apart from endothelial cells, ACE signalling has not yet been addressed in tissues such as monocytes/macrophages, which have an increased ACE expression in an atherosclerotic setting. We observed that upon stimulation of cultured ACE expressing monocytes with ramiprilat, JNK is activated suggesting the

occurrence of ACE signalling in human monocytes. It is worth noting that ACE inhibitors delay the onset of type II diabetes in spite of moderate decrease in blood pressure. To further elucidate the mechanism underlying this effect, we found that ACE inhibitors increase the PPARy levels in the nuclear extracts of ACE expressing monocytes which were also reproduced in human endothelial cells overexpressing human somatic ACE. However, ramiprilat did not have any direct effect on the activity of a luciferase-coupled promoter containing several copies of the PPRE in human endothelial cells. These results contrasted with the actions of the PPARy agonist suggesting that ramiprilat enhances PPARy levels through an indirect mechanism. We next hypothesized that ramiprilat might increase the levels of 15-deoxy-D12,14-prostaglandin J2 (15dPGJ2) which is a natural ligand for PPARy via COX enzymes in monocytes. We observed that ramiprilat was able to decrease the diminution of COX-2 levels upto 48 hours of treatment but the levels of 15dPGJ2 were too low to be detected by ELISA. However ramiprilat enhanced the plasma levels of adiponectin, a downstream target of PPARy, which is a anti-atherogenic and anti-inflammatory adipokine, in patients with coronary artery disease. Though adiponectin is a PPAR $\gamma$ -regulated gene, the observed increase in adiponectin might be attributed to the increase in RXR rather than via PPARy.

Taken together, the results of this investigation have revealed that ACE inhibitors initiate ACE signalling by eliciting the dimerization of the enzyme, more specifically via its C-domain active centers. The ACE signalling cascade when activated leads to the enhanced expression of ACE, COX-2 and CRBP-1 which in turn favours the heterodimerization of PPAR $\gamma$  with RXR and thus results in the increased expression of "PPAR $\gamma$  regulated" genes such as adiponectin. The latter results provide a molecular basis for the observation that ACE inhibitors can delay the onset of type 2 diabetes in as much as it was possible to link ramipril with CRBP-1, RXR activity and the expression of adiponectin, an adipokine associated with improved insulin sensitivity. Further work is however required to elucidate the consequences of ACE inhibitors in monocytes and adipocytes as well as in intact animals.

#### 6. Zusammenfassung

Das Angiotensin-konvertierende Enzym (ACE) ist eine zentrale Komponente des Renin-Angiotensin-Systems (RAS) und ist insbesondere für die Regulation des Wasser-Elektrolyt-Haushaltes sowie für die Kontrolle des Blutdrucks von großer Bedeutung. Das Enzym wandelt zum einen Angiotensin I in das stark vasokonstrikitorisch wirkende Hormon Angiotensin II um und hydrolysiert zum anderen das vasodilatorisch wirkende Hormon Bradykinin in inaktive Fragmente. Die Hemmung des RAS durch ACE-Inhibitoren ist zu einer wichtigen, erfolgreichen therapeutischen Maßnahme geworden, nicht nur zur Behandlung des Bluthochdrucks, sondern auch bei Myokardinfarkten, Diabetes mellitus Typ II, Schlaganfällen, koronarer Herzkrankheit (KHK) sowie bei Links-Herz-Insuffizienz. Interessanterweise lässt sich eine Reihe der positiven Effekte der ACE-Inhibitoren nicht allein durch Senkung des Angiotensin II-Spiegels bzw. Anstieg der Bradykinin-Konzentration erklären. Vielmehr scheint es noch andere Wege zu geben, mittels derer ACE-Inhibitoren ihre positiven Wirkungen entfalten.

Im Hinblick darauf ist von besonderem Interesse, dass das Enzym ACE erst kürzlich als Signaltransduktionsmolekül identifiziert werden konnte. Die Bindung von ACE-Inhibitoren an ACE löst in Endothelzellen eine Signaltransduktionskaskade aus, bei der zunächst die ubiquitäte Proteinkinase CK2 ACE an einem intrazellulären Serin-Rest (Ser<sup>1270</sup>) phosphoryliert. Infolge dieser Phosphorylierung wird der c-Jun/JNK-Signalweg und der Transkriptionsfaktor AP-1 aktiviert, was zur Steigerung der Expression von ACE und Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) führt. In Endothelzellen, die eine nicht-phosphorylierbare Mutante von ACE (S1270A) überexprimieren, findet das ACE-Signalling nicht statt. Da mittels der Technik inverser Micellen gezeigt werden konnte, dass ACE als Dimer vorliegen kann, sollte die physiologische Relevanz dieser Dimerisierung und deren Einfluß auf das ACE-Signalling in Endothelzellen untersucht werden. Mit Hilfe nativer Gelelektrophorese, sowie Experimenten mit dem Split-ubiquitin System oder chemischem "Cross-linking" konnte im Rahmen dieser Doktorarbeit gezeigt werden, dass ACE in Endothelzellen als Dimer vorliegt und die Dimerisierung durch Gabe von ACE-Inhibitoren gesteigert wird. Da die nicht-phosphorylierbare, inaktive ACE-Mutante auch dimerisieren kann, konnte ein Einfluss der ACE-Phosphorylierung auf die Dimerisierung ausgeschlossen werden. Obwohl eine Dimerisierung des Enzyms über eine N-terminale Zucker-Seitenkette postuliert worden war, konnte im Rahmen dieser Arbeit die ACE-Inhibitor-induzierte Dimerisierung weder durch die Gabe von Monosacchariden wie Glukose, Galactose und Mannitol unterdrückt

werden, noch durch die Inkubation der Endothelzellen mit verschiedenen N-terminalen, monoklonalen ACE-Antikörpern. Die basale und ACE-Inhibitor-induzierte Dimerisierung von ACE konnte jedoch durch die Inaktivierung des C-terminalen, aktiven Zentrums von ACE durch Mutation der Histidinreste in der HEMGH-Konsensussequenz verhindert werden. Dies führte zur völligen Aufhebung des ACE-Signaltransduktion weges, d.h. weder die Ramiprilat-vermittelte Phosphorylierung an Ser<sup>1270</sup> noch die JNK-Aktivierung erfolgte. Somit konnte die durch ACE-Inhibitoren induzierte Dimerisierung über die carboxyterminale Domäne des Enzyms als Initiationspunkt der ACE-Signaltransduktion bestätigt werden.

Mittels DNA-Microarray Technologie wurde ferner der Einfluss der ACE-Dimerisierung und der dadurch initiierten Signaltransduktion auf die Expression weiterer Gene untersucht, wobei 21 durch Ramiprilat regulierte Gene identifiziert wurden. Sieben Gene wurden in ihrer Expression gesteigert, 14 abgeschwächt. Zahlreiche weitere Experimente zeigten jedoch, dass Ramiprilat keinen Einfluss auf die Menge der durch diese Gene kodierten Proteine in Endothelzellen hatte. Da eine Reihe anderer Zellen und Gewebe ein funktionelles RAS exprimieren, untersuchten wir auch das Blutplasma von gesunden Probanden und Patienten mit KHK. Interessanterweise fand sich im Plasma von Patienten unter Ramipril-Therapie eine erhöhte Konzentration des "Cellular retinol binding protein-1" (CRBP-1), welches auch mittels Microarray als durch Ramiprilat-hochreguliertes Gen ermittelt worden war. In Endothelzellen führte eine Überexpression von CRBP-1 zu einem Anstieg der Promotoraktivität von RXRE und PPRE nach Stimulation durch 9-cis Retinolsäure und Rosiglitazon, was möglicherweise auf das erhöhte, zelluläre Angebot von Retinol-Produkten und einer daraus resultierenden vermehrten Dimerisierung von PPAR und RXR zurückzuführen ist.

Obwohl das RAS nicht nur in Endothelzellen, sondern auch in anderen Geweben eine Rolle spielt, konnte das ACE-Signalling bislang noch nicht in anderen Geweben nachgewiesen werden. Insbesondere die Untersuchung des ACE-Signallings in Monozyten bzw. Makrophagen könnte von besonderem medizinischem Interesse sein, da in diesen Zelltypen die ACE-Expression im Rahmen der Entwicklung einer Atherosklerose deutlich ansteigt. Es scheint jedoch ein ACE-Signalling in Monozyten zu existieren, da Ramiprilat in diesen Zellen eine Aktivierung der JNK sowie eine Erhöhung der COX-2 Expression auslöst.

Eine weiterer positiver Aspekt einer ACE-Inhibitor-Therapie ist, dass diese Medikamente die Ausbildung eines Diabetes mellitus Typ II verzögern. Experimente zur Ermittlung des zugrundeliegenden Mechanismus zeigten, dass die Behandlung von ACE-exprimierenden Monozyten oder Endothelzellen mit ACE-Inhibitoren zu einem erhöhten PPARγ-Level in den Kernextrakten dieser Zellen führte. Allerdings scheint Ramiprilat die PPARγ-Expression nur indirekt zu beeinflussen, denn die PPRE-Promotoraktivität wurde durch die Behandlung von Endothelzellen mit Ramiprilat, im Gegensatz zu der Inkubation mit dem PPARγ-Agonisten Rosiglitazon, nicht beeinflusst. Eine Wechselwirkung zwischen ACE und PPARγ scheint in der Tat naheliegend, da Patienten mit KHK infolge einer Ramipril-Behandlung eine erhöhte Plasmakonzentration von Adiponectin aufweisen, das in seiner Expression durch PPARγ gesteigert wird und als Adipokin anti-inflammatorische und anti-atherogene Eigenschaften aufweist.

Zusammenfassend lässt sich sagen, dass das ACE-Inhibitor-vermittelte ACE-Signalling durch eine Dimerisierung des ACE initiiert wird und zum Anstieg der Expression von ACE, COX-2 und CRBP-1 führt. Die gesteigerte CRBP-1-Bildung erhöht vermutlich die Bildung von PPAR/RXR-Heterodimeren, was in der vermehrten Expression von PPAR-regulierten Genen (z.B. Adiponectin) resultiert.

## 7. List of Abbreviations

| ACE   | Angiotensin I converting enzyme                    |
|-------|--|
| ACE2  | Angiotensin converting enzyme-2                    |
| ATP   | Adenosine tri-phosphate                            |
| BSA   | Bovine serum albumin                               |
| CK2   | Casein kinase 2                                    |
| DNA   | Deoxy ribonucleic acid                             |
| DTT   | Dithiothreitol                                     |
| EDTA  | Ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid                  |
| EGTA  | Ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid                   |
| HEPES | 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid |
| HUVEC | Human umbilical vein endothelial cells             |
| JNK   | c-Jun amino terminal kinase                        |
| NMMHC | Non muscle myosin heavy chain                      |
| PAEC  | Porcine aortic endothelial cells                   |
| PBS   | Phosphate buffered saline                          |
| PMSF  | Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride                      |
| TEMED | N,N,N',N'-Tetramethylethylenediamine               |
| TNFα  | Tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$                    |

## 8. Reference List

- 1. Ehlers, MRW, Riordan, JF: Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme New Concepts Concerning Its Biological Role. *Biochemistry* 28:5311-5318, 1989
- 2. Wang,JG, Staessen,JA: Genetic polymorphisms in the renin-angiotensin system: relevance for susceptibility to cardiovascular disease. *Eur.J.Pharmacol.* 410:289-302, 2000
- 3. Egido, J: Vasoactive hormones and renal sclerosis Discussion. *Kidney International* 49:578-597, 1996
- 4. Matsubara,H: Pathophysiological role of angiotensin II type 2 receptor in cardiovascular and renal diseases. *Circ.Res.* 83:1182-1191, 1998
- 5. Ruiz-Ortega,M, Lorenzo,O, Suzuki,Y, Ruperez,M, Egido,J: Proinflammatory actions of angiotensins. *Curr.Opin.Nephrol.Hypertens*. 10:321-329, 2001
- 6. Sadoshima, J: Cytokine actions of angiotensin II. Circ. Res. 86:1187-1189, 2000
- 7. Victor, JD, Kenneth, B, David, C, Jerome, C, Björn, D, John, D, Javier, D, Helmut, D, Roberto, F, Wiek, vG, Lennart, H, Burkhard, H, Ahsan, H, Colin, J, Harold, L, Eva, L, Thomas, L+, John, M, Albert, M, Carl, P, Ton, R, Willem, R, Luis, R, Marcel, R, Heribert, S, Karl, S, Thomas, U, Douglas, V, Michael, W: Pathophysiologic and Therapeutic Importance of Tissue ACE: A Consensus Report Cardiovascular Drugs and Therapy V16:149-160, 2002
- 8. Sleight, P, Yusuf, S, Pogue, J, Tsuyuki, R, Diaz, R, Probstfield, J: Blood-pressure reduction and cardiovascular risk in HOPE study. *Lancet* 358:2130-2131, 2001
- 9. Ferrario,CM, Trask,AJ, Jessup,JA: Advances in biochemical and functional roles of angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 and angiotensin-(1-7) in regulation of cardiovascular function. *Am.J.Physiol.-Heart.Circ.Physiol.* 289:H2281-H2290, 2005
- 10. Stroth, U., Unger, T: The renin-angiotensin system and its receptors. *J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol.* 33:S21-S28, 1999
- 11. Ichiki, T, Kambayashi, Y, Inagami, T: Multiple Growth-Factors Modulate Messenger-Rna Expression of Angiotensin-Ii Type-2 Receptor in R3T3 Cells. *Circ.Res.* 77:1070-1076, 1995
- 12. Kambayashi,Y, Nagata,K, Ichiki,T, Inagami,T: Insulin and insulin-like growth factors induce expression of angiotensin type-2 receptor in vascular-smoothmuscle cells. *Eur.J.Biochem.* 239:558-565, 1996
- 13. Ozono, R, Wang, ZQ, Moore, AF, Inagami, T, Siragy, HM, Carey, RM: Expression of the subtype 2 angiotensin (AT(2)) receptor protein in rat kidney. *Hypertension* 30:1238-1246, 1997

- Hein,L, Barsh,GS, Pratt,RE, Dzau,VJ, Kobilka,BK: Behavioral and Cardiovascular Effects of Disrupting the Angiotensin-II Type-2 Receptor Gene in Mice. *Nature* 377:744-747, 1995
- 15. Siragy,HM, Carey,RM: The subtype-2 (AT(2)) angiotensin receptor regulates renal cyclic guanosine 3',5'-monophosphate and AT(1) receptor-mediated prostaglandin E(2) production in conscious rats. *J.Clin.Invest.* 97:1978-1982, 1996
- Siragy,HM, Carey,RM: The subtype 2 (AT(2)) angiotensin receptor mediates renal production of nitric oxide in conscious rats. *J.Clin.Invest.* 100:264-269, 1997
- 17. Suzuki, J, Iwai, M, Nakagami, H, Wu, L, Chen, R, Sugaya, T, Hamada, M, Hiwada, K, Horiuchi, M: Role of angiotensin II-regulated apoptosis through distinct AT(1) and AT(2) receptors in neointimal formation. *Circulation* 106:847-853, 2002
- 18. Carey,RM, Wang,ZQ, Siragy,HM: Role of the angiotensin type 2 receptor in the regulation of blood pressure and renal function. *Hypertension* 35:155-163, 2000
- 19. Siragy,HM, Carey,RM: Protective role of the angiotensin AT(2) receptor in a renal wrap hypertension model. *Hypertension* 33:1237-1242, 1999
- 20. Borland, JA, Kelsall, C, Yacoub, MH, Chester, AH: Expression, localisation and function of ACE and chymase in normal and atherosclerotic human coronary arteries. *Vascul Pharmacol* 42:99-108, 2005
- 21. Petrie, MC, Padmanabhan, N, McDonald, JE, Hillier, C, Connell, JMC, McMurray, JJV: Angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) and non-ACE dependent angiotensin II generation in resistance arteries from patients with heart failure and coronary heart disease. *J.Am.Coll.Cardiol.* 37:1056-1061, 2001
- 22. Dzau,VJ: Cell Biology and Genetics of Angiotensin in Cardiovascular-Disease. *J.Hypertens.* 12:S3-S10, 1994
- 23. Gillies, LK, Werstiuk, ES, Lee, RM: Cross-over study comparing effects of treatment with an angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor and an angiotensin II type 1 receptor antagonist on cardiovascular changes in hypertension. *J.Hypertens.* 16:477-486, 1998
- 24. Gohlke, P, Linz, W, Scholkens, BA, Kuwer, I, Bartenbach, S, Schnell, A, Unger, T: Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition improves cardiac function. Role of bradykinin. *Hypertension* 23:411-418, 1994
- 25. Leckie,BJ: The action of salt and captopril on blood pressure in mice with genetic hypertension. *J Hypertens* 19:1607-1613, 2001
- 26. Ondetti,MA, Rubin,B, Cushman,DW: Design of specific inhibitors of angiotensin-converting enzyme: new class of orally active antihypertensive agents. *Science* 196:441-444, 1977
- 27. Patchett,AA, Harris,E, Tristram,EW, Wyvratt,MJ, Wu,MT, Taub,D, Peterson,ER, Ikeler,TJ, ten,BJ, Payne,LG, Ondeyka,DL, Thorsett,ED, Greenlee,WJ, Lohr,NS, Hoffsommer,RD, Joshua,H, Ruyle,WV, Rothrock,JW, Aster,SD, Maycock,AL, Robinson,FM, Hirschmann,R, Sweet,CS, Ulm,EH, Gross,DM, Vassil,TC, Stone,CA: A new class of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors. *Nature* 288:280-283, 1980
- 28. Bunning, P: Kinetic properties of the angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor ramiprilat. *J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol*. 10 Suppl 7:S31-S35, 1987
- 29. Warner, GT, Perry, CM: Ramipril: a review of its use in the prevention of cardiovascular outcomes. *Drugs* 62:1381-1405, 2002
- Pascard,C, Guilhem,J, Vincent,M, Remond,G, Portevin,B, Laubie,M: Configuration and preferential solid-state conformations of perindoprilat (S-9780). Comparison with the crystal structures of other ACE inhibitors and conclusions related to structure-activity relationships. *J.Med.Chem* 34:663-669, 1991
- 31. Kostis, JB: Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme-Inhibitors Emerging Differences and New Compounds. *Am.J.Hypertens*. 2:57-64, 1989
- 32. Ondetti,MA: Structural Relationships of Angiotensin Converting Enzyme-Inhibitors to Pharmacologic Activity. *Circulation* 77:74-78, 1988
- 33. Mancini,GB, Henry,GC, Macaya,C, O'Neill,BJ, Pucillo,AL, Carere,RG, Wargovich,TJ, Mudra,H, Luscher,TF, Klibaner,MI, Haber,HE, Uprichard,AC, Pepine,CJ, Pitt,B: Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition with quinapril improves endothelial vasomotor dysfunction in patients with coronary artery disease. The TREND (Trial on Reversing ENdothelial Dysfunction) Study. *Circulation* 94:258-265, 1996
- 34. Schlaifer, JD, Wargovich, TJ, O'Neill, B, Mancini, GB, Haber, HE, Pitt, B, Pepine, CJ: Effects of quinapril on coronary blood flow in coronary artery disease patients with endothelial dysfunction. TREND Investigators. Trial on Reversing Endothelial Dysfunction. *Am.J.Cardiol.* 80:1594-1597, 1997
- 35. Wiemer,G, Scholkens,BA, Becker,RHA, Busse,R: Ramiprilat Enhances Endothelial Autocoid Formation by Inhibiting Breakdown of Endothelium-Derived Bradykinin. *Hypertension* 18:558-563, 1991
- 36. Wiemer,G, Scholkens,BA, Linz,W: Endothelial Protection by Converting-Enzyme Inhibitors. *Cardiovasc.Res.* 28:166-172, 1994
- 37. Schartl,M, Bocksch,WG, Dreysse,S, Beckmann,S, Franke,O, Hunten,U: Remodeling of myocardium and arteries by chronic angiotensin converting

enzyme inhibition in hypertensive patients. J.Hypertens.Suppl 12:S37-S42, 1994

- 38. Lonn,E, Yusuf,S, Dzavik,V, Doris,C, Yi,Q, Smith,S, Moore-Cox,A, Bosch,J, Riley,W, Teo,K: Effects of ramipril and vitamin E on atherosclerosis: the study to evaluate carotid ultrasound changes in patients treated with ramipril and vitamin E (SECURE). *Circulation* 103:919-925, 2001
- 39. Effects of ramipril on cardiovascular and microvascular outcomes in people with diabetes mellitus: results of the HOPE study and MICRO-HOPE substudy. Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study Investigators. *Lancet* 355:253-259, 2000
- 40. Jandeleit-Dahm,KA, Tikellis,C, Reid,CM, Johnston,CI, Cooper,ME: Why blockade of the renin-angiotensin system reduces the incidence of new-onset diabetes. *J.Hypertens.* 23:463-473, 2005
- 41. Garg,R, Yusuf,S: Overview of randomized trials of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors on mortality and morbidity in patients with heart failure. Collaborative Group on ACE Inhibitor Trials. *J.Am.Med.Assoc.* 273:1450-1456, 1995
- 42. Effect of ramipril on mortality and morbidity of survivors of acute myocardial infarction with clinical evidence of heart failure. The Acute Infarction Ramipril Efficacy (AIRE) Study Investigators. *Lancet* 342:821-828, 1993
- 43. Kober, L, Torp-Pedersen, C, Carlsen, JE, Bagger, H, Eliasen, P, Lyngborg, K, Videbaek, J, Cole, DS, Auclert, L, Pauly, NC: A clinical trial of the angiotensinconverting-enzyme inhibitor trandolapril in patients with left ventricular dysfunction after myocardial infarction. Trandolapril Cardiac Evaluation (TRACE) Study Group. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 333:1670-1676, 1995
- 44. Yusuf,S, Sleight,P, Pogue,J, Bosch,J, Davies,R, Dagenais,G: Effects of an angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor, ramipril, on cardiovascular events in high-risk patients. The Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study Investigators. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 342:145-153, 2000
- 45. Yusuf,S, Lonn,E: Anti-ischaemic effects of ACE inhibitors: review of current clinical evidence and ongoing clinical trials. *Eur.Heart.J.* 19:J36-J44, 1998
- 46. Defendini,R, Zimmerman,EA, Weare,JA, Alhenc-Gelas,F, Erdos,EG: Angiotensin-converting enzyme in epithelial and neuroepithelial cells. *Neuroendocrinology* 37:32-40, 1983
- 47. Costerousse,O, Allegrini,J, Lopez,M, Alhenc-Gelas,F: Angiotensin Iconverting enzyme in human circulating mononuclear cells: genetic polymorphism of expression in T-lymphocytes. *Biochem.J.* 290 (Pt 1):33-40, 1993
- 48. Engeli,S, Gorzelniak,K, Kreutz,R, Runkel,N, Distler,A, Sharma,AM: Coexpression of renin-angiotensin system genes in human adipose tissue. *J.Hypertens.* 17:555-560, 1999

- 49. Engeli,S, Negrel,R, Sharma,AM: Physiology and pathophysiology of the adipose tissue renin-angiotensin system. *Hypertension* 35:1270-1277, 2000
- 50. Caldwell,PR, Seegal,BC, Hsu,KC, Das,M, Soffer,RL: Angiotensin-converting enzyme: vascular endothelial localization. *Science* 191:1050-1051, 1976
- 51. Wei,L, Alhenc-Gelas,F, Soubrier,F, Michaud,A, Corvol,P, Clauser,E: Expression and characterization of recombinant human angiotensin Iconverting enzyme. Evidence for a C-terminal transmembrane anchor and for a proteolytic processing of the secreted recombinant and plasma enzymes. *J.Biol.Chem.* 266:5540-5546, 1991
- 52. Johnston, CI: Tissue Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme in Cardiac and Vascular hyper trophy, Repair, and Remodeling. *Hypertension* 23:258-268, 1994
- 53. Esther, CR, Marino, EM, Howard, TE, Machaud, A, Corvol, P, Capecchi, MR, Bernstein, KE: The critical role of tissue angiotensin-converting enzyme as revealed by gene targeting in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* 99:2375-2385, 1997
- 54. Fuchs,S, Xiao,HD, Cole,JM, Adams,JW, Frenzel,K, Michaud,A, Zhao,H, Keshelava,G, Capecchi,MR, Corvol,P, Bernstein,KE: Role of the N-terminal catalytic domain of angiotensin-converting enzyme investigated by targeted inactivation in mice. *J.Biol.Chem.* 279:15946-15953, 2004
- Jaspard,E, Wei,L, Alhencgelas,F: Differences in the Properties and Enzymatic Specificities of the 2 Active-Sites of Angiotensin I-Converting Enzyme (Kininase-Ii) - Studies with Bradykinin and Other Natural Peptides. J.Biol.Chem. 268:9496-9503, 1993
- 56. Fernandez, JH, Hayashi, MA, Camargo, AC, Neshich, G: Structural basis of the lisinopril-binding specificity in N- and C-domains of human somatic ACE. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 308:219-226, 2003
- 57. Wei,L, Alhenc-Gelas,F, Corvol,P, Clauser,E: The two homologous domains of human angiotensin I-converting enzyme are both catalytically active. *J.Biol.Chem.* 266:9002-9008, 1991
- 58. Sturrock, ED, Danilov, SM, Riordan, JF: Limited proteolysis of human kidney angiotensin-converting enzyme and generation of catalytically active N- and C-terminal domains. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 236:16-19, 1997
- 59. Voronov,S, Zueva,N, Orlov,V, Arutyunyan,A, Kost,O: Temperature-induced selective death of the C-domain within angiotensin-converting enzyme molecule. *FEBS Lett* 522:77-82, 2002
- 60. Yang,HYT, Erdos,EG, Levin,Y: A Dipeptidyl Carboxypeptidase That Converts Angiotensin I and Inactivates Bradykinin. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 214:374-&, 1970

- 61. Jaspard, E, Costerousse, O, Wei, L, Corvol, P, Alhenc-Gelas, F: The angiotensin I-converting enzyme (kininase II): molecular and regulatory aspects. *Agents Actions* Suppl 38 (Pt 1):349-358, 1992
- 62. Soubrier,F, Hubert,C, Testut,P, Nadaud,S, Alhenc-Gelas,F, Corvol,P: Molecular biology of the angiotensin I converting enzyme: I. Biochemistry and structure of the gene. *J.Hypertens* 11:471-476, 1993
- 63. Skidgel,RA, Erdos,EG: The Broad Substrate-Specificity of Human Angiotensin-I Converting Enzyme. *Clin.Exp.Hypertens.Part A-Theor.Pract.* 9:243-259, 1987
- 64. Kost,OA, Orth,TA, Nikolskaya,II, Nametkin,SN, Levashov,AV: Carbohydrates regulate the dimerization of angiotensin-converting enzyme. *Biochem.Mol.Biol.Int* 44:535-542, 1998
- 65. Baudin,B, Alves,N, Pilon,A, eteau-Burnat,B, Giboudeau,J: Structural and biological roles of glycosylations in pulmonary angiotensin I-converting enzyme. *Glycobiology* 7:565-570, 1997
- 66. Ehlers, MR, Chen, YN, Riordan, JF: The unique N-terminal sequence of testis angiotensin-converting enzyme is heavily O-glycosylated and unessential for activity or stability. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun* 183:199-205, 1992
- 67. Orth,T, Voronov,S, Binevski,P, Saenger,W, Kost,O: Glycosylation of bovine pulmonary angiotensin-converting enzyme modulates its catalytic properties. *FEBS Lett* 431:255-258, 1998
- 68. Corvol,P, Michaud,A, Soubrier,F, Williams,TA: Recent advances in knowledge of the structure and function of the angiotensin I converting enzyme. *J.Hypertens.Suppl* 13:S3-10, 1995
- 69. Soubrier,F, Alhenc-Gelas,F, Hubert,C, Allegrini,J, John,M, Tregear,G, Corvol,P: Two Putative Active Centers in Human Angiotensin I-Converting Enzyme Revealed by Molecular Cloning. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.* 85:9386-9390, 1988
- 70. Bernstein, KE, Martin, BM, Edwards, AS, Bernstein, EA: Mouse angiotensinconverting enzyme is a protein composed of two homologous domains. J.Biol.Chem. 264:11945-11951, 1989
- 71. Ehlers, MRW, Fox, EA, Strydom, DJ, Riordan, JF: Molecular Cloning of Human Testicular Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme: The Testis Isozyme is Identical to the C-Terminal Half of Endothelial Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.* 86:7741-7745, 1989
- 72. Kumar,RS, Kusari,J, Roy,SN, Soffer,RL, Sen,GC: Structure of testicular angiotensin-converting enzyme. A segmental mosaic isozyme. *J.Biol.Chem*. 264:16754-16758, 1989

- 73. Lattion, AL, Soubrier, F, Allegrini, J, Hubert, C, Corvol, P, Alhenc-Gelas, F: The testicular transcript of the angiotensin I-converting enzyme encodes for the ancestral, non-duplicated form of the enzyme. *FEBS Letters* 252:99-104, 1989
- 74. Hubert, C, Houot, AM, Corvol, P, Soubrier, F: Structure of the Angiotensin I-Converting Enzyme Gene - 2 Alternate Promoters Correspond to Evolutionary Steps of A Duplicated Gene. *J.Biol.Chem.* 266:15377-15383, 1991
- 75. Howard, TE, Shai, SY, Langford, KG, Martin, BM, Bernstein, KE: Transcription of testicular angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) is initiated within the 12th intron of the somatic ACE gene. *Mol. Cell. Biol* 10:4294-4302, 1990
- 76. Krulewitz,AH, Baur,WE, Fanburg,BL: Hormonal influence on endothelial cell angiotensin-converting enzyme activity. *Am.J.Physiol* 247:C163-C168, 1984
- 77. Velletri,PA, Aquilano,DR, Bruckwick,E, Tsai-Morris,CH, Dufau,ML, Lovenberg,W: Endocrinological control and cellular localization of rat testicular angiotensin-converting enzyme (EC 3.4.15.1). *Endocrinology* 116:2516-2522, 1985
- 78. Rigat,B, Hubert,C, Alhenc-Gelas,F, Cambien,F, Corvol,P, Soubrier,F: An insertion/deletion polymorphism in the angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene accounting for half the variance of serum enzyme levels. *J.Clin.Invest* 86:1343-1346, 1990
- 79. Soubrier, F, Nadaud, S, Williams, TA: Angiotensin I converting enzyme gene: regulation, polymorphism and implications in cardiovascular diseases. *Eur.Heart.J* 15 Suppl D:24-29, 1994
- 80. Nakai,K, Itoh,C, Miura,Y, Nakai,K, Syo,T, Musya,T, Hiramori,K: [Deletion polymorphism of the angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene associates with increased risk for ischemic heart diseases in the Japanese]. *Rinsho Byori* 43:347-352, 1995
- Ribichini,F, Steffenino,G, Dellavalle,A, Matullo,G, Colajanni,E, Camilla,T, Vado,A, Benetton,G, Uslenghi,E, Piazza,A: Plasma activity and insertion/deletion polymorphism of angiotensin I-converting enzyme: a major risk factor and a marker of risk for coronary stent restenosis. *Circulation* 97:147-154, 1998
- 82. Schunkert,H: Polymorphism of the angiotensin-converting enzyme gene and cardiovascular disease. *J.Mol.Med* 75:867-875, 1997
- 83. Boright, AP, Paterson, AD, Mirea, L, Bull, SB, Mowjoodi, A, Scherer, SW, Zinman, B: Genetic variation at the ACE gene is associated with persistent microalbuminuria and severe nephropathy in type 1 diabetes: the DCCT/EDIC Genetics Study. *Diabetes* 54:1238-1244, 2005
- 84. Hooper,NM: Angiotensin converting enzyme: implications from molecular biology for its physiological functions. *Int.J.Biochem* 23:641-647, 1991

- 85. Oppong,SY, Hooper,NM: Characterization of a secretase activity which releases angiotensin-converting enzyme from the membrane. *Biochem.J* 292 (Pt 2):597-603, 1993
- Parvathy,S, Oppong,SY, Karran,EH, Buckle,DR, Turner,AJ, Hooper,NM: Angiotensin-converting enzyme secretase is inhibited by zinc metalloprotease inhibitors and requires its substrate to be inserted in a lipid bilayer. *Biochem.J* 327 (Pt 1):37-43, 1997
- 87. Ehlers, MR, Schwager, SL, Scholle, RR, Manji, GA, Brandt, WF, Riordan, JF: Proteolytic release of membrane-bound angiotensin-converting enzyme: role of the juxtamembrane stalk sequence. *Biochemistry* 35:9549-9559, 1996
- 88. Oppong,SY, Turner,AJ, Hooper,NM: Characterization of the soluble and membrane-bound forms of porcine angiotensin converting enzyme. *Biochem.Soc.Trans* 21 (Pt 3):251S, 1993
- 89. Kramers, C, Danilov, SM, Deinum, J, Balyasnikova, IV, Scharenborg, N, Looman, M, Boomsma, F, de Keijzer, MH, van, DC, Martin, S, Soubrier, F, Adema, GJ: Point mutation in the stalk of angiotensin-converting enzyme causes a dramatic increase in serum angiotensin-converting enzyme but no cardiovascular disease. *Circulation* 104:1236-1240, 2001
- 90. Eyries, M, Michaud, A, Deinum, J, Agrapart, M, Chomilier, J, Kramers, C, Soubrier, F: Increased shedding of angiotensin-converting enzyme by a mutation identified in the stalk region. *J.Biol.Chem.* 276:5525-5532, 2001
- 91. Schwager,SL, Chubb,AJ, Scholle,RR, Brandt,WF, Mentele,R, Riordan,JF, Sturrock,ED, Ehlers,MR: Modulation of juxtamembrane cleavage ("shedding") of angiotensin-converting enzyme by stalk glycosylation: evidence for an alternative shedding protease. *Biochemistry* 38:10388-10397, 1999
- 92. Hooper,NM, Karran,EH, Turner,AJ: Membrane protein secretases. Biochem J 321 (Pt 2):265-279, 1997
- 93. Woodman,ZL, Schwager,SL, Redelinghuys,P, Carmona,AK, Ehlers,MR, Sturrock,ED: The N domain of somatic angiotensin-converting enzyme negatively regulates ectodomain shedding and catalytic activity. *Biochem.J* 389:739-744, 2005
- 94. Studdy,PR, Bird,R: Serum angiotensin converting enzyme in sarcoidosis--its value in present clinical practice. *Ann. Clin.Biochem* 26 (Pt 1):13-18, 1989
- 95. Silverstein, E, Friedland, J: Elevated serum and spleen angiotensin converting enzyme and serum lysozyme in Gaucher's disease. *Clin.Chim.Acta* 74:21-25, 1977
- 96. eteau-Burnat,B, Baudin,B: Angiotensin-converting enzyme: clinical applications and laboratory investigations on serum and other biological fluids. *Crit.Rev.Clin.Lab.Sci* 28:337-356, 1991

- 97. Cambien,F, Costerousse,O, Tiret,L, Poirier,O, Lecerf,L, Gonzales,MF, Evans,A, Arveiler,D, Cambou,JP, Luc,G, .: Plasma level and gene polymorphism of angiotensin-converting enzyme in relation to myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 90:669-676, 1994
- 98. Nagi,DK, Foy,CA, Mohamed-Ali,V, Yudkin,JS, Grant,PJ, Knowler,WC: Angiotensin-1-converting enzyme (ACE) gene polymorphism, plasma ACE levels, and their association with the metabolic syndrome and electrocardiographic coronary artery disease in Pima Indians. *Metab.-Clin.Exp.* 47:622-626, 1998
- 99. Oosterga,M, Voors,AA, deKam,PJ, Schunkert,H, Pinto,YM, Kingma,H, vanGilst,WH: Plasma angiotensin-converting enzyme activity and left ventricular dilation after myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 95:2607-2609, 1997
- 100. Drouet, L, Baudin, B, Baumann, FC, Caen, JP: Serum angiotensin-converting enzyme: an endothelial cell marker. Application to thromboembolic pathology. *J.Lab.Clin.Med* 112:450-457, 1988
- 101. Plassart,F, Cynober,L, Baudin,B, Lioret,N, Beteau-Burnat,B, Nolland,XB, Saizy,R, Giboudeau,J: Plasma fibronectin and angiotensin-converting enzyme: markers of primary pulmonary injury in burn patients. *Clin.Chim.Acta* 227:135-144, 1994
- 102. Scrobohaci,ML, Drouet,L, Monem-Mansi,A, Devergie,A, Baudin,B, D'Agay,MF, Gluckman,E: Liver veno-occlusive disease after bone marrow transplantation changes in coagulation parameters and endothelial markers. *Thromb.Res* 63:509-519, 1991
- 103. Friedland, J, Setton, C, Silverstein, E: Induction of angiotensin converting enzyme in human monocytes in culture. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun* 83:843-849, 1978
- Kaplan,G: In vitro differentiation of human monocytes. Monocytes cultured on glass are cytotoxic to tumor cells but monocytes cultured on collagen are not. *J.Exp.Med* 157:2061-2072, 1983
- 105. Kitazono, T, Padgett, RC, Armstrong, ML, Tompkins, PK, Heistad, DD: Evidence That Angiotensin II Is Present in Human Monocytes. *Circulation* 91:1129-1134, 1995
- 106. Okamura, A, Rakugi, H, Ohishi, M, Yanagitani, Y, Takiuchi, S, Moriguchi, K, Fennessy, PA, Higaki, J, Ogihara, T: Upregulation of renin-angiotensin system during differentiation of monocytes to macrophages. J. Hypertens 17:537-545, 1999
- 107. Vuk-Pavlovic,Z, Kreofsky,TJ, Rohrbach,MS: Characteristics of monocyte angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) induction by dexamethasone. *J.Leukoc.Biol* 45:503-509, 1989

- 108. Eisenlohr, LC, Bacik, I, Bennink, JR, Bernstein, K, Yewdell, JW: Expression of A Membrane Protease Enhances Presentation of Endogenous Antigens to Mhc Class I-Restricted Lymphocytes-T. *Cell* 71:963-972, 1992
- 109. Kozlowski,S, Corr,M, Takeshita,T, Boyd,LF, Pendleton,CD, Germain,RN, Berzofsky,JA, Margulies,DH: Serum Angiotensin-1 Converting Enzyme-Activity Processes A Human Immunodeficiency Virus-1 Gp160 Peptide for Presentation by Major Histocompatibility Complex Class-I Molecules. J.Exp.Med 175:1417-1422, 1992
- 110. Sherman, LA, Burke, TA, Biggs, JA: Extracellular Processing of Peptide Antigens That Bind Class I Major Histocompatibility Molecules. J.Exp.Med 175:1221-1226, 1992
- 111. Ulrich,C, Heine,GH, Garcia,P, Reichart,B, Georg,T, Krause,M, Kohler,H, Girndt,M: Increased expression of monocytic angiotensin-converting enzyme in dialysis patients with cardiovascular disease. *Nephrol.Dial.Transplant* 21:1596-1602, 2006
- 112. Diet,F, Pratt,RE, Berry,GJ, Momose,N, Gibbons,GH, Dzau,VJ: Increased accumulation of tissue ACE in human atherosclerotic coronary artery disease. *Circulation* 94:2756-2767, 1996
- 113. Falkenhahn, M, Franke, F, Bohle, RM, Zhu, YC, Stauss, HM, Bachmann, S, Danilov, S, Unger, T: Cellular Distribution of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme After Myocardial Infarction. *Hypertension* 25:219-226, 1995
- 114. Morishita,R, Gibbons,GH, Ellison,KE, Lee,W, Zhang,LN, Yu,H, Kaneda,Y, Ogihara,T, Dzau,VJ: Evidence for Direct Local Effect of Angiotensin in Vascular Hypertrophy In-Vivo Gene-Transfer of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme. J. Clin. Invest 94:978-984, 1994
- 115. Jonsson, JR, Game, PA, Head, RJ, Frewin, DB: The expression and localisation of the angiotensin-converting enzyme mRNA in human adipose tissue. *Blood Press* 3:72-75, 1994
- 116. Schling, P, Mallow, H, Trindl, A, Loffler, G: Evidence for a local renin angiotensin system in primary cultured human preadipocytes. *Int.J.Obesity* 23:336-341, 1999
- 117. Engeli,S, Bohnke,J, Gorzelniak,K, Janke,J, Schling,P, Bader,M, Luft,FC, Sharma,AM: Weight loss and the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system. *Hypertension* 45:356-362, 2005
- 118. Tahmasebi,M, Puddefoot,JR, Inwang,ER, Vinson,GP: The tissue reninangiotensin system in human pancreas. *J.Endocrinol* 161:317-322, 1999
- 119. Tipnis,SR, Hooper,NM, Hyde,R, Karran,E, Christie,G, Turner,AJ: A human homolog of angiotensin-converting enzyme Cloning and functional expression as a captopril-insensitive carboxypeptidase. *J.Biol.Chem.* 275:33238-33243, 2000

- 120. Crackower,MA, Sarao,R, Oudit,GY, Yagil,C, Kozieradzki,I, Scanga,SE, Oliveira-dos-Santos,AJ, da Costa,J, Zhang,LY, Pei,Y, Scholey,J, Ferrario,CM, Manoukian,AS, Chappell,MC, Backx,PH, Yagil,Y, Penninger,JM: Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 is an essential regulator of heart function. *Nature* 417:822-828, 2002
- 121. Donoghue,M, Hsieh,F, Baronas,E, Godbout,K, Gosselin,M, Stagliano,N, Donovan,M, Woolf,B, Robison,K, Jeyaseelan,R, Breitbart,RE, Acton,S: A novel angiotensin-converting enzyme-related carboxypeptidase (ACE2) converts angiotensin I to angiotensin 1-9. *Circ.Res.* 87:E1-E9, 2000
- 122. Harmer,D, Gilbert,M, Borman,R, Clark,KL: Quantitative mRNA expression profiling of ACE 2, a novel homologue of angiotensin converting enzyme. *FEBS.Letters* 532:107-110, 2002
- 123. Zhang,H, Wada,J, Hida,K, Tsuchiyama,Y, Hiragushi,K, Shikata,K, Wang,HY, Lin,S, Kanwar,YS, Makino,H: Collectrin, a collecting duct-specific transmembrane glycoprotein, is a novel homolog of ACE2 and is developmentally regulated in embryonic kidneys. *J.Biol.Chem.* 276:17132-17139, 2001
- 124. Turner, AJ, Hooper, NM: The angiotensin-converting enzyme gene family: genomics and pharmacology. *Trends. Pharmacol.Sci.* 23:177-183, 2002
- 125. Benzing,T, Fleming,I, Blaukat,A, Muller-Esterl,W, Busse,R: Angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitor ramiprilat interferes with the sequestration of the B-2 kinin receptor within the plasma membrane of native endothelial cells. *Circulation* 99:2034-2040, 1999
- 126. Minshall,RD, Tan,FL, Nakamura,F, Rabito,SF, Becker,RP, Marcic,B, Erdos,EG: Potentiation of the actions of bradykinin by angiotensin I-converting enzyme inhibitors The role of expressed human bradykinin B-2 receptors and angiotensin I-converting enzyme in CHO cells. *Circ.Res.* 81:848-856, 1997
- 127. Marcic, B, Deddish, PA, Jackman, HL, Erdos, EG: Enhancement of bradykinin and resensitization of its B-2 receptor. *Hypertension* 33:835-843, 1999
- 128. Linz, W, Wiemer, G, Gohlke, P, Unger, T, Scholkens, BA: Contribution of Kinins to the Cardiovascular Actions of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme-Inhibitors. *Pharmacol.Rev.* 47:25-49, 1995
- 129. Kohlstedt,K, Shoghi,F, Muller-Esterl,W, Busse,R, Fleming,I: CK2 phosphorylates the angiotensin-converting enzyme and regulates its retention in the endothelial cell plasma membrane. *Circ.Res* 91:749-756, 2002
- 130. Kohlstedt,K, Brandes,RP, Muller-Esterl,W, Busse,R, Fleming,I: Angiotensinconverting enzyme is involved in outside-in signaling in endothelial cells. *Circ.Res* 94:60-67, 2004
- 131. Kohlstedt,K, Busse,R, Fleming,I: Signaling via the angiotensin-converting enzyme enhances the expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in endothelial cells. *Hypertension* 45:126-132, 2005

- 132. Popp,R, Bauersachs,J, Hecker,M, Fleming,I, Busse,R: A transferable, betanaphthoflavone-inducible, hyperpolarizing factor is synthesized by native and cultured porcine coronary endothelial cells. *J.Physiol* 497 (Pt 3):699-709, 1996
- 133. Balyasnikova, IV, Danilov, SM, Muzykantov, VR, Fisher, AB: Modulation of angiotensin-converting enzyme in cultured human vascular endothelial cells. *In Vitro. Cell. Dev. Biol. Anim* 34:545-554, 1998
- 134. Bradford,MM: A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Anal.Biochem* 72:248-254, 1976
- 135. Racusen,D: Stoichiometry of the amido black reaction with proteins. *Anal.Biochem* 52:96-101, 1973
- 136. Waite, R, Smith, GM: Measurement of the protein content of milk from mastitic quarters by the Amido Black method. *J.Dairy.Res* 39:195-201, 1972
- 137. Potente, M, Michaelis, UR, Fisslthaler, B, Busse, R, Fleming, I: Cytochrome P450 2C9-induced endothelial cell proliferation involves induction of mitogenactivated protein (MAP) kinase phosphatase-1, inhibition of the c-Jun Nterminal kinase, and up-regulation of cyclin D1. J.Biol.Chem. 277:15671-15676, 2002
- 138. Revzin,A: Gel-Electrophoresis Assays for Dna-Protein Interactions. Biotechniques 7:346-355, 1989
- 139. Woodman,ZL, Oppong,SY, Cook,S, Hooper,NM, Schwager,SL, Brandt,WF, Ehlers,MR, Sturrock,ED: Shedding of somatic angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) is inefficient compared with testis ACE despite cleavage at identical stalk sites. *Biochem.J* 347 Pt 3:711-718, 2000
- 140. Kasturi, S, Jabbar, MA, Sen, GC, Sen, I: Role of glycosylation in the biosynthesis and activity of rabbit testicular angiotensin-converting enzyme. *Biochemistry* 33:6228-6234, 1994
- 141. Sadhukhan, R, Sen, I: Different glycosylation requirements for the synthesis of enzymatically active angiotensin-converting enzyme in mammalian cells and yeast. *J.Biol.Chem.* 271:6429-6434, 1996
- 142. Yu,XC, Sturrock,ED, Wu,Z, Biemann,K, Ehlers,MR, Riordan,JF: Identification of N-linked glycosylation sites in human testis angiotensinconverting enzyme and expression of an active deglycosylated form. *J.Biol.Chem.* 272:3511-3519, 1997
- 143. Kost,OA, Balyasnikova,IV, Chemodanova,EE, Nikolskaya,II, Albrecht,RF, Danilov,SM: Epitope-dependent blocking of the angiotensin-converting enzyme dimerization by monoclonal antibodies to the N-terminal domain of ACE: possible link of ACE dimerization and shedding from the cell surface. *Biochemistry* 42:6965-6976, 2003

- 144. Balyasnikova, IV, Karran, EH, Albrecht, RF, Danilov, SM: Epitope-specific antibody-induced cleavage of angiotensin-converting enzyme from the cell surface. *Biochem.J.* 362:585-595, 2002
- 145. Forman, BM, Chen, J, Evans, RM: The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: ligands and activators. *Ann. N.Y.Acad.Sci* 804:266-275, 1996
- 146. da Cunha,V, Tham,DM, Martin-McNulty,B, Deng,G, Ho,JJ, Wilson,DW, Rutledge,JC, Vergona,R, Sullivan,ME, Wang,YX: Enalapril attenuates angiotensin II-induced atherosclerosis and vascular inflammation. *Atherosclerosis* 178:9-17, 2005
- 147. Benson,SC, Pershadsingh,HA, Ho,CI, Chittiboyina,A, Desai,P, Pravenec,M, Qi,N, Wang,J, Avery,MA, Kurtz,TW: Identification of telmisartan as a unique angiotensin II receptor antagonist with selective PPARgamma-modulating activity. *Hypertension* 43:993-1002, 2004
- 148. Schupp,M, Janke,J, Clasen,R, Unger,T, Kintscher,U: Angiotensin type 1 receptor blockers induce peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma activity. *Circulation* 109:2054-2057, 2004
- 149. Goldstein, BJ, Scalia, R: Adiponectin: A novel adipokine linking adipocytes and vascular function. *J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab.* 89:2563-2568, 2004
- 150. Ukkola,O, Santaniemi,M: Adiponectin: a link between excess adiposity and associated comorbidities?. *J.Mol.Med* 80:696-702, 2002
- 151. Hotta,K, Funahashi,T, Arita,Y, Takahashi,M, Matsuda,M, Okamoto,Y, Iwahashi,H, Kuriyama,H, Ouchi,N, Maeda,K, Nishida,M, Kihara,S, Sakai,N, Nakajima,T, Hasegawa,K, Muraguchi,M, Ohmoto,Y, Nakamura,T, Yamashita,S, Hanafusa,T, Matsuzawa,Y: Plasma concentrations of a novel, adipose-specific protein, adiponectin, in type 2 diabetic patients. *Arterioscler.Thromb.Vasc.Biol.* 20:1595-1599, 2000
- 152. Ouchi,N, Kihara,S, Arita,Y, Maeda,K, Kuriyama,H, Okamoto,Y, Hotta,K, Nishida,M, Takahashi,M, Nakamura,T, Yamashita,S, Funahashi,T, Matsuzawa,Y: Novel modulator for endothelial adhesion molecules: adipocytederived plasma protein adiponectin. *Circulation* 100:2473-2476, 1999
- 153. Delerive,P, De Bosscher,K, Besnard,S, Vanden Berghe,W, Peters,JM, Gonzalez,FJ, Fruchart,JC, Tedgui,A, Haegeman,G, Staels,B: Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha negatively regulates the vascular inflammatory gene response by negative cross-talk with transcription factors NF-kappa B and AP-1. *J.Biol.Chem.* 274:32048-32054, 1999
- 154. Gething, MJ, Mccammon, K, Sambrook, J: Expression of Wild-Type and Mutant Forms of Influenza Hemagglutinin - the Role of Folding in Intracellular-Transport. *Cell* 46:939-950, 1986
- 155. Kreis, TE, Lodish, HF: Oligomerization is essential for transport of vesicular stomatitis viral glycoprotein to the cell surface. *Cell* 46:929-937, 1986

- 156. Salahpour,A, Angers,S, Mercier,JF, Lagace,M, Marullo,S, Bouvier,M: Homodimerization of the beta 2-adrenergic receptor as a prerequisite for cell surface targeting. *J.Biol.Chem.* 279:33390-33397, 2004
- 157. Schmechel,A, Strauss,M, Schlicksupp,A, Pipkorn,R, Haass,C, Bayer,TA, Multhaup,G: Human BACE forms dimers and colocalizes with APP. *J.Biol.Chem.* 279:39710-39717, 2004
- 158. Capell,A, Steiner,H, Willem,M, Kaiser,H, Meyer,C, Walter,J, Lammich,S, Multhaup,G, Haass,C: Maturation and pro-peptide cleavage of beta-secretase. *J.Biol.Chem.* 275:30849-30854, 2000
- 159. Nishimura,K, Yoshida,N, Hiwada,K, Ueda,E, Kokubu,T: Purification of Angiotensin I-Converting Enzyme from Human Lung. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 483:398-408, 1977
- 160. Kost,OA, Bovin,NV, Chemodanova,EE, Nasonov,VV, Orth,TA: New feature of angiotensin-converting enzyme: carbohydrate-recognizing domain. *J.Mol.Recog.* 13:360-369, 2000
- 161. Das, M, Soffer, RL: Pulmonary Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Structural and Catalytic Properties. *J.Biol.Chem.* 250:6762-6768, 1975
- 162. Nakajima, T, Oshima, G, Yeh, HSJ, Igic, R, Erdos, EG: Purification of Angiotensin I-Converting Enzyme of Lung. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 315:430-438, 1973
- 163. Alhenc-Gelas, F, Soubrier, F, Hubert, C, Allegrini, J, Corvol, P: The peculiar characteristics of the amino acid sequence of angiotensin I-converting enzyme, as determined by cDNA cloning of the human endothelial enzyme. *J.Cardiovasc.Pharmacol* 14 Suppl 4:S6-S9, 1989
- 164. Barkalow,FJ, Barkalow,KL, Mayadas,TN: Dimerization of P-selectin in platelets and endothelial cells. *Blood* 96:3070-3077, 2000
- 165. Jun,CD, Shimaoka,M, Carman,CV, Takagi,J, Springer,TA: Dimerization and the effectiveness of ICAM-1 in mediating LFA-1-dependent adhesion. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci* 98:6830-6835, 2001
- 166. Maher, DW, Strawn, LM, Donoghue, DJ: Alanine mutagenesis of conserved residues in the platelet-derived growth factor family: identification of residues necessary for dimerization and transformation. *Oncogene* 8:533-541, 1993
- 167. Ripka, JE, Ryan, JW, Valido, FA, Chung, AY, Peterson, CM, Urry, RL: Nglycosylation of forms of angiotensin converting enzyme from four mammalian species. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun* 196:503-508, 1993
- 168. Deddish,PA, Wang,J, Michel,B, Morris,PW, Davidson,NO, Skidgel,RA, Erdos,EG: Naturally occurring active N-domain of human angiotensin Iconverting enzyme. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci* 91:7807-7811, 1994
- 169. Ballinger, MD, Wells, JA: Will any dimer do? Nat. Struct. Biol 5:938-940, 1998

- 170. Gomes, I, Jordan, BA, Gupta, A, Rios, C, Trapaidze, N, Devi, LA: G protein coupled receptor dimerization: implications in modulating receptor function. *J.Mol.Med* 79:226-242, 2001
- 171. Rousseau, A, Michaud, A, Chauvet, MT, Lenfant, M, Corvol, P: The hemoregulatory peptide N-acetyl-Ser-Asp-Lys-Pro is a natural and specific substrate of the N-terminal active site of human angiotensin-converting enzyme. *J.Biol.Chem.* 270:3656-3661, 1995
- 172. Liu,X, Fernandez,M, Wouters,MA, Heyberger,S, Husain,A: Arg1098 Is Critical for the Chloride Dependence of Human Angiotensin I-converting Enzyme C-domain Catalytic Activity. *J.Biol.Chem.* 276:33518-33525, 2001
- 173. Wei,L, Clauser,E, Alhencgelas,F, Corvol,P: The 2 Homologous Domains of Human Angiotensin-I-Converting Enzyme Interact Differently with Competitive Inhibitors. *J.Biol.Chem.* 267:13398-13405, 1992
- 174. Danilov,S, Jaspard,E, Churakova,T, Towbin,H, Savoie,F, Wei,L, Alhencgelas,F: Structure-Function Analysis of Angiotensin I-Converting Enzyme Using Monoclonal-Antibodies - Selective-Inhibition of the Amino-Terminal Active-Site. J.Biol.Chem. 269:26806-26814, 1994
- 175. Williams, TA, Danilov, S, Alhencgelas, F, Soubrier, F: A study of chimeras constructed with the two domains of angiotensin I-converting enzyme. *Biochem.Pharmacol.* 51:11-14, 1996
- 176. van Esch,JHM, Tom,B, Dive,V, Batenburg,WW, Georgiadis,D, Yiotakis,A, van Gool,JMG, de Bruijn,RJA, de Vries,R, Danser,AHJ: Selective angiotensinconverting enzyme c-domain inhibition is sufficient to prevent angiotensin Iinduced vasoconstriction. *Hypertension* 45:120-125, 2005
- 177. Junot, C, Gonzales, MF, Ezan, E, Cotton, J, Vazeux, G, Michaud, A, Azizi, M, Vassiliou, S, Yiotakis, A, Corvol, P, Dive, V: RXP 407, a selective inhibitor of the N-domain of angiotensin I-converting enzyme, blocks in vivo the degradation of hemoregulatory peptide acetyl-Ser-Asp-Lys-Pro with no effect on angiotensin I hydrolysis. *J.Pharmacol.Exp.Therapeut*. 297:606-611, 2001
- 178. Ferguson,KM, Berger,MB, Mendrola,JM, Cho,HS, Leahy,DJ, Lemmon,MA: EGF activates its receptor by removing interactions that autoinhibit ectodomain dimerization. *Mol.Cell* 11:507-517, 2003
- 179. Costerousse,O, Allegrini,J, Clozel,JP, Menard,J, henc-Gelas,F: Angiotensin Iconverting enzyme inhibition but not angiotensin II suppression alters angiotensin I-converting enzyme gene expression in vessels and epithelia. J.Pharmacol.Exp.Therapeut. 284:1180-1187, 1998
- 180. Boomsma,F, Debruyn,JHB, Derkx,FHM, Schalekamp,MADH: Opposite Effects of Captopril on Angiotensin I-Converting Enzyme-Activity and Concentration - Relation Between Enzyme-Inhibition and Long-Term Blood-Pressure Response. *Clin.Sci.* 60:491-498, 1981

- 181. Izhar, M, Alausa, T, Folker, A, Hung, E, Bakris, GL: Effects of COX inhibition on blood pressure and kidney function in ACE inhibitor-treated blacks and Hispanics. *Hypertension* 43:573-577, 2004
- 182. Esteller,M, Guo,MZ, Moreno,V, Peinado,MA, Capella,G, Galm,O, Baylin,SB, Herman,JG: Hypermethylation-associated inactivation of the cellular retinolbinding-protein 1 gene in human cancer. *Cancer Res.* 62:5902-5905, 2002
- 183. Jeronimo, C, Henrique, R, Oliveira, J, Lobo, F, Pais, I, Teixeira, MR, Lopes, C: Aberrant cellular retinol binding protein 1 (CRBP1) gene expression and promoter methylation in prostate cancer. *J. Clin. Pathol.* 57:872-876, 2004
- 184. Ghyselinck,NB, Bavik,C, Sapin,V, Mark,M, Bonnier,D, Hindelang,C, Dierich,A, Nilsson,CB, Hakansson,H, Sauvant,P, zais-Braesco,V, Frasson,M, Picaud,S, Chambon,P: Cellular retinol-binding protein I is essential for vitamin A homeostasis. *Embo.J.* 18:4903-4914, 1999
- 185. Li,E: Structure and function of cytoplasmic retinoid binding proteins. *Mol.Cell.Biochem.* 192:105-108, 1999
- Napoli, JL: Retinoic acid: Its biosynthesis and metabolism. *Progr.Nucleic Acid Res.Mol.Biol.* Vol 63 63:139-188, 2000
- 187. Ross,R: Atherosclerosis is an inflammatory disease. *Am.Heart.J.* 138:S419-S420, 1999
- 188. de Villiers, WJ, Smart, EJ: Macrophage scavenger receptors and foam cell formation. *J.Leukoc.Biol* 66:740-746, 1999
- Napoleone, E, Di Santo, A, Camera, M, Tremoli, E, Lorenzet, R: Angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors downregulate tissue factor synthesis in monocytes. *Circ.Res* 86:139-143, 2000
- 190. Yusuf,S, Gerstein,H, Hoogwerf,B, Pogue,J, Bosch,J, Wolffenbuttel,BHR, Zinman,B: Ramipril and the development of diabetes. *J.Am.Med.Assoc*. 286:1882-1885, 2001
- 191. Brenner, BM, Cooper, ME, de Zeeuw, D, Keane, WF, Mitch, WE, Parving, HH, Remuzzi, G, Snapinn, SM, Zhang, ZX, Shahinfar, S: Effects of losartan on renal and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes and nephropathy. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 345:861-869, 2001
- 192. Lewis, EJ, Hunsicker, LG, Clarke, WR, Berl, T, Pohl, MA, Lewis, JB, Ritz, E, Atkins, RC, Rohde, R, Raz, I: Renoprotective effect of the angiotensin-receptor antagonist irbesartan in patients with nephropathy due to type 2 diabetes. *N.Engl.J.Med* 345:851-860, 2001
- 193. Chinetti,G, Griglio,S, Antonucci,M, Torra,IP, Delerive,P, Majd,Z, Fruchart,JC, Chapman,J, Najib,J, Staels,B: Activation of proliferator-activated receptors alpha and gamma induces apoptosis of human monocyte-derived macrophages. *J.Biol.Chem.* 273:25573-25580, 1998

- 194. Jiang, C, Ting, AT, Seed, B: PPAR-gamma agonists inhibit production of monocyte inflammatory cytokines. *Nature* 391:82-86, 1998
- 195. Ricote, M, Li, AC, Willson, TM, Kelly, CJ, Glass, CK: The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma is a negative regulator of macrophage activation. *Nature* 391:79-82, 1998
- 196. Hsueh, WA, Law, RE: PPAR {gamma} and Atherosclerosis: Effects on Cell Growth and Movement. *Arterioscler.Thromb.Vasc.Biol* 21:1891-1895, 2001
- 197. Tham,DM, Martin-McNulty,B, Wang,Yx, Wilson,DW, Vergona,R, Sullivan,ME, Dole,W, Rutledge,JC: Angiotensin II is associated with activation of NF-{kappa}B-mediated genes and downregulation of PPARs. *Physiol.Genomics* 11:21-30, 2002

## Acknowledgement

I would like to sincerely thank **Prof. Dr. Ingrid Fleming** for her valuable scientific guidance, critical advice and encouragement. I'm indebted to her for giving me an opportunity to do my thesis work in her research group and to be a part of the team. I am also grateful to Prof. Dr. Rudi Busse for giving me an opportunity to do my thesis work in Uniklinik, Frankfurt am Main.

I would like to thank Dr. Karin Kohlstedt for helping me throughout my thesis work and for all the help meted out to me during my stay in Frankfurt.

I would like to extend my sincere thanks to my colleagues and friends in Frankfurt for all the help.

# Lebenslauf

| Name<br>Geburtsdatum<br>Geburtsort<br>Familienstand<br>Nationalität | Cynthia Gershome<br>24.08.1977<br>Vellore, Indien<br>Verheiratet<br>Indisch  |
|---|--|
| <u>Kliniksadresse:</u>  | Vascular Signalling Group<br>Institut für Kardiovaskuläre Physiologie<br>Johann Wolfgang Goethe-Universität,<br>Theodor-Stern-Kai 7<br>60596 Frankfurt am Main, Deutschland<br>Email: Gershome@Zphys1.uni-frankfurt.de                                     |
| <u>Privatadresse</u> :  | C/O Mr. M.S. Gershome<br>No. 16, Bharathidasan Street<br>Rajbhai Nagar<br>Avadi, Chennai-600071<br>Tel: (+91)4426554237  |
| Ausbildung/Studium:   |  |
| <u>April 2004 bis Dezember2007:</u>                                 | Doktorandin im Fachbereich Medizin, Institut für Kardiovaskuläre Physiologie, Johann Wolfgang Goethe-Universität, Frankfurt am Main.   |
| August 1997 bis Juni 2000   | Magister in medizinischer Biochemie,<br>Abschlussnote: First class.<br>an der Pondicherry Universität<br>Thema der Magisterarbeit: Potential Thomsen–Friendreich<br>antigen and or α-galactoside containing glycoproteins of<br>human plasma (April 2000). |
| Juni 1994 bis Juli 1997   | Bachelor in Biochemie<br>Abschlussnote: First class with distinction<br>an der Madras Universität  |
| <u>Berufserfahrung:</u>   |  |
| August 2000 bis März 2004   | Biochemikerin in der Grundlagenforschung im Bereich<br>metabolischer Störungen und Diabetes, Dr.Reddy Labors<br>Ltd., Hyderabad, Indien.   |
| <u>Sprachkenntnisse</u> :   | Englisch, sehr gut<br>Deutsch (Grundkenntnisse)  |

#### Publikationsliste:

- (1) Sharma S, Sowjanya A, Kumari M, Suryaprakash R, **Cynthia G**, Suresh J, Chakrabarti R. Biochemical mechanism of insulin sensitization, lipid modulation and anti-atherogenic potential of PPAR [alpha]/[gamma] dual agonist: Ragaglitazar. *Life Sciences*In Press, Corrected Proof.
- (2) Kohlstedt K, Gershome C, Friedrich M, Muller-Esterl W, Alhenc-Gelas F, Busse R, Fleming I. Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) dimerization is the initial step in the ACE inhibitorinduced ACE signaling cascade in endothelial cells. *Molecular Pharmacology* 2006 May;69(5):1725-32.
- (3) Chakrabarti R, Vikramadithyan RK, Misra P, Hiriyan J, Raichur S, Damarla RK, **Gershome C**, Suresh J, Rajagopalan R. Ragaglitazar: a novel PPAR alpha & PPAR delta agonist with potent lipidlowering and insulin-sensitizing efficacy in animal models. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 2003 October;140(3):527-37.
- (4) Misra P, Chakrabarti R, Vikramadithyan RK, Bolusu G, Juluri S, Hiriyan J, Gershome C, Rajjak A, Kashireddy P, Yu ST, Surapureddi S, Qi C, Zhu YJ, Rao MS, Reddy JK, Ramanujam R. PAT5A: A partial agonist of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma is a potent antidiabetic thiazolidinedione yet weakly adipogenic. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 2003 August;306(2):763-71.
- (5) Vikramadithyan RK, Hiriyan J, Suresh J, **Gershome C**, Babu RK, Misra P, Rajagopalan R, Chakrabarti R. DRF 2655: A unique molecule that reduces body weight and ameliorates metabolic abnormalities. *Obesity Research* 2003 February;11(2):292-303.

#### Posterpräsentationen:

- First meeting of European Vascular Genomics Network of Excellence, Summer School als Doktorandin der vaskulären Biologie, Maastricht, Netherlands, Juli 3-7, 2005.
- $62^{nd}$  ADA Scientific sessions. Juni 2002. Biochemical effects of the dual PPAR  $\alpha$  and  $\gamma$  agonist ragaglitazar on glucose and lipid metabolism. Reeba Vikramadithyan, Jagadeeshan Hiriayan, Cynthia Gershome, Ramanujam Rajagopalan, Ranjan Chakrabarti.
- Vorsitz und Koordination eines Symposiums zum Thema : Role of Nitric oxide in Health and Disease, Society of Biological chemists, Pondicherry chapter. Januar 2000.

#### Preis:

**Chairman's Excellenz Preis** –Innovationspreis für die Entdeckung von **DRF-10945** (Wirkstoff zur Behandlung metabolischer Störungen, derzeit in Testphase II einer klinischen Studie).

Ich erkläre, daß ich die dem Fachbereich Medizin der Johann Wolfgang Goethe-Universität Frankfurt am Main zur Promotionsprüfung eingereichte Dissertation mit dem Titel,

# "Molecular mechanism of intracellular signal transduction by the angiotensin-converting enzyme."

in der KARDIOVASKULÄREN PHYSIOLOGIE unter Betreuung und Anleitung von PROF. DR. INGRID FLEMING mit Unterstützung durch PROF. DR. RUDI BUSSE ohne sonstige Hilfe selbst durchgeführt und bei der Abfassung der Arbeit keine anderen als die in der Dissertation angeführten Hilfsmittel benutzt habe.

Ich habe bisher an keiner in-oder ausländischen Universität ein Gesuch um Zulassung zur Promotion eingereicht. Die vorliegende Arbeit wurde bisher nicht als Dissertation eingereicht.

Teile der vorliegenden Arbeit werden in folgendem Publikationsorgan veröffentlicht:

## Molecular Pharmacology

Kohlstedt K, <u>Gershome C</u>, Friedrich M, Muller-Esterl W, Alhenc-Gelas F, Busse R, Fleming I. Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) dimerization is the initial stepp in the ACE inhibitor-induced ACE signalling cascade in endothelial cells. Mol. Pharmacol. 2006 May; 69(5): 1725-32.

Frankfurt am Main, 20.12.2007

## CYNTHIA GERSHOME